
School Board of Clay County
Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island, FL

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Date: Jan 04 2024 (6:00 p.m.)

Student Showcase (None)

Invocation (Pastor Chad Weeks, Russell Baptist Church)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Recognitions and Awards

1. Recognize Schools Earning the Florida Department of Education's Purple Star School of Distinction

Presenters

2. EDFIRST Citizens Advisory Committee Update

School Showcase (None)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment)

Discussion Agenda

Human Resources

3. D1 - Human Resources Special Action A

4. D2 - Human Resources Special Action B

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

5. C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on November 28, 2023; Student Discipline Hearings and Regular Meeting on
December 7, 2023

2023 Nov 28 Board Workshop.pdf

2023 Dec 7 Student Hearings.pdf (Confidential)

2023 Dec 7 Regular Meeting.pdf

Human Resources

6. C2 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Personnel Consent Agenda - Jan 2024.pdf

Page 1 of 231

DRAFT



Instruction-Academic Services

7. C3 -  Elementary Student Out of State Travel

Spring Park Elem Out of State Travel.pdf

8. C4 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

January 2024 Student Tavel.pdf

Instruction-Career and Technical Education

9. C5 - Overnight Field Trip

Universal Orlando Handheld Competition Feb 5-6, 2024 - KHS and RHS.pdf

Instruction-K-12 Academic

10. C6 - 2025 Early College Program Contract Between the School Board of Clay County and District Board of Trustees
of St. Johns River State College

240098 St Johns RIver State College 2025.pdf

Business Affairs

11. C7 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024

01.04.24 - 23-24 Allocation Summary.pdf

Business Affairs-Accounting

12. C8 - Monthly Financial Reports for November, 2023

November 2023 Monthly Board Financial Reports.pdf

November 2023 Monthly Board Property Reports.pdf

Contracts Signed By Superintendent for $50,000 to $100,000.pdf

13. C9 - Budget Amendment Report for November 30, 2023

23-24 Budget Amendments November 2023.pdf

Business Affairs-Property

14. C10 - DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT DECEMBER, 2023

DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT DECEMBER, 2023.pdf

Business Affairs-Purchasing

15. C11 - BID Award - *Pending Vendor Information*

Operations-Facilities

16. C12 - Appointments for the Citizens Oversight Committee

Citizens Advisory Committee_4_Jan_24.pdf

17. C13 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for Middleburg High School Restroom
Renovations

Page 2 of 231

DRAFT



18. C14 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for Clay High School Parking Lot
Renovation/Redesign

19. C15 - Final Completion of Orange Park Junior High School HVAC Repair/Replacement

Certificate of Final Completion - OPJ HVAC Repair Replacement.pdf

20. C16 - Approve the 2023/2024 – 2027/2028 Educational Facilities Work Plan

EFP Tables for 2023_2024 WORK PLAN 12-2023.pdf

Work Plan 2023.pdf

21. C17 - Prequalification of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 1.4.24.pdf

22. C18 - Change Order #2 for Lakeside Junior High School Restroom Renovations

CO 2 LSJ Restroom Renovation.pdf

23. C19 - Change Order #4 for Middleburg High School Cafeteria Expansion

CO #4 MHS Cafeteria Expansion.pdf

24. C20 - Final Completion of Lakeside Junior High School Restroom Renovations

Cert. of Final- LSJ - CC Borden 10-7-23.pdf

25. C21 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, and II) Plans and Specifications for Lakeside Junior High School
Restroom/Locker Room Renovations

Adoption of Consent Agenda

CCEA Update  (Victoria Kidwell)

CESPA Update  (Lonnie Roberts)

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

School Board Attorney Remarks

School Board Member Remarks

Adjournment

Page 3 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
Recognize Schools Earning the Florida Department of Education's Purple Star School of Distinction

Description
the Purple Star School of Distinction Designation, established by the Florida Legislature (House Bill 429), recognizes schools
that support the unique needs of military families.  Military families are supported through the implementation of activities such
as:

Highlighting annual military recognition events-
Publicizing support for military students and families-
Providing opportunities for active-duty parents to volunteer at the school-
Participating in one or more service projects that connect the school with the military community-

The following schools earning this distinction will maintain their designation as a Purple Star School of Distinction for three (3)
school years.

Discovery Oaks Elementary-
Doctors Inlet Elementary-
Oakleaf High-
Plantation Oaks Elementary-
Robert M. Paterson Elementary-
Tynes Elementary-

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Recognition only.

Contact
Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant, bonnie.onora@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 4 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
EDFIRST Citizens Advisory Committee Update

Description
Per Florida Statutes, Section 212.055(6), the Citizens Advisory Committee for EDFIRST will report/substantiate to the board
that the half-cent sales tax referendum funds are in full compliance with the Resolution as authorized.  This presentation will
fulfill that statutory requirement.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Presentation only.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Asst. Superintendent Operations, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 5 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
D1 - Human Resources Special Action A

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 6 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
D2 - Human Resources Special Action B

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 7 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on November 28, 2023; Student Discipline Hearings and Regular Meeting on
December 7, 2023

Description
Florida Statute 1001.42(1) requires the superintendent, as secretary, to keep such minutes and records as are necessary to set
forth clearly all actions and proceedings of the school board.  The minutes of each meeting shall be reviewed, corrected if
necessary, and approved at the next regular meeting; provided that this action may be taken at an intervening special meeting if
the board desires.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve minutes as submitted.

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools, david.broskie@myoneclay.net; Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

2023 Nov 28 Board Workshop.pdf

2023 Dec 7 Student Hearings.pdf (Confidential)

2023 Dec 7 Regular Meeting.pdf

Page 8 of 231

DRAFT



Date: Nov 28 2023 (9:00 a.m.)

School Board of Clay County

District Multi-Purpose Center, Corner of Gratio Place and Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL

November 28, 2023 - School Board Workshop

Invocation  (Ashley Gilhousen)

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper (participated via teleconferencing), District 1; Mary Bolla, District 2; Beth Clark, District 3, Ashley
Gilhousen, District 5; and Superintendent David S. Broskie. Not present: Michele Hanson, District 4.)

Workshop Items

1. Review Draft Agenda for Regular School Board Meeting on December 7, 2023

December-7-2023-regular-school-board-meeting_agenda_packet.pdf

Minutes:

Recognitions and Awards:

Recognize Winners of the Len Mattiace Foundation Anti-Bullying Contest - no discussion;
Recognition of Board Member Recipients Mrs. Skipper and Mrs. Bolla of the 2023 Appreciation Award from Tobacco Free Clay
- no discussion;
Recognize 2023 Founders' Week Art Contest Winners - no discussion;
Recognition of Hispanic Heritage Month Contest Winner - no discussion;
Recognition of Clay County Student Athletes of the Month - no discussion;
Recognition of Clay County Coaches of the Month - no discussion;
Recognition of State Champions - no discussion;
Athletics Check Presentation to American Cancer Society - no discussion;
Recognition of 2023-2024 School Related Employee of the Year and Teacher of the Year Semi-finalists - no discussion;

Discussion Agenda:

D1 Approve Resolution determining tangible personal property to be surplus and donating said property to the family of
Madaline "maddy" Laub - no discussion; 
D2 Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Revisions to School Board Policy 7.00 (Information Services) - no discussion; 
D3 Human Resources Special Action A - no discussion;
D4 Human Resources Special Action B - no discussion;
D5 Human Resources Special Action C - no discussion;
D6 Human Resources Special Action D - no discussion;
D7 Human Resources Special Action E - no discussion;
D8 Human Resources Special Action F - no discussion;
D9 Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Revisions to School Board Policy 4.15 (Tobacco Use) - no discussion; 
D10 Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Amendments to School Board Policy 1.14 Sales Surtax Citizens Advisory
Committee - no discussion;

Consent Agenda:

C1 Minutes of School Board Workshop on October 24, 2023; Student Discipline Hearings, Organization Meeting, and Regular
Meeting on November 2, 2023 - no discussion;
C2 Proposed Student Calendar for 2025-2026 School Year - no discussion;
C3 Personnel Consent Agenda - Superintendent Broskie noted a new job description for an instructional position to provide
services to those incarcerated in the Clay County jail;
C4 K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel - no discussion;
C5 Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Valdosta State University - no discussion;
C6 Addition to the Professional Learning Catalog (Master In-service Plan) - no discussion;

Page 9 of 231

DRAFT



C7 Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024 - no discussion;
C8 Monthly Financial Reports for October, 2023 - no discussion;
C9 Budget Amendment Report for October 2023 - no discussion;
C10 Deletion of Certain Items Report November, 2023 - no discussion;
C11 Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles Data Exchange Memorandum of Understanding - Mr. Broskie
noted that this agreement allows the district to check on driver license records to ensure personnel operating buses and district
vehicles are within safety compliance standards;
C12 School Concurrency Proportionate Share Mitigation (PSM) Agreement between the Clay County School Board, Clay
County, Lori A. Bowden, and LJB Land, LLC - no discussion; 
C13 Change Order #1 for Orange Park Junior High School RTU Replacement Buildings 1, 2, 3, & 4 - no discussion;
C14 Prequalification of Contractors - no discussion;
C15 Change Order #2 for Bannerman Learning Center Parking Lot Renovations/Security Lighting Replacement - no
discussion;
C16 Substantial and Final Completion of Orange Park High School Stadium Repair/Replacement - no discussion;
C17 Change Order #1 for Fleming Island High School Batting Practice Building and Erosion Control - no discussion;
C18 Change Order #4 for Keystone Heights Elementary School New Cafeteria/Classrooms - no discussion.

2. Finalize Legislative Priorities

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie noted several requests set forth in Legislative Priorities.  Notably, requests are being made for expansions to
Workforce Development and Elevation Academy to prepare students to graduate high school.  Mr. Broskie appreciated the work of
The Southern Group in lobbying for these requests.  The legislative session will start earlier this year, and Clay Day will be held on the
afternoon of January 17, 2024 with the Day in the Legislature held on January 18, 2024.

3. Discussion of Participation in Litigation re Social Media

Minutes:

Jeremiah Blocker, School Board Attorney, introduced Wayne Hogan, Attorney, and Alan Pickert, Attorney, of the law firm Terrell
Hogan.  

Mr. Hogan provided an overview of an option for Clay County District Schools to become a plaintiff in a current litigation class action
lawsuit seeking to recover compensation as a result of social media platforms that knowingly designed and used algorithms that
pushed harmful content to students in order to generate revenue and profits.  Students negatively impacted by social media are
potentially at increased risk of depression, anxiety, aggression, and eating disorders.  School districts have had to bear the costs of
assisting students and families affected by this harm including the hiring of additional mental health personnel, developing additional
resources, and providing increased training for teachers and staff.

A sufficient number of cases/complaints must be filed in order to move forward with the proof of damages.  Terrell Hogan's goal is to
make the social media industry own up to its responsibilities without imposing great cost and expense to school districts, staff, and
taxpayers.  Terrell Hogan would be paid on a contingency basis and, working with The Douglas Firm, believes this can be done
without costing CCDS an expenditure.  If a settlement is reached, those funds could be utilized to provide some level of compensation
to the school districts.  

Board consensus was reached to move forward with an agenda item that would satisfy the required action for participation in this
litigation as well as current litigation arising out of opioid use among students.  

Questions from the Audience  (None)

Superintendent Comments

4. Superintendent Comments

Minutes:

Mr. Broskie advised the district has reached a tentative agreement with Clay Educational Staff Professionals Association (CESPA),
and an item for that agreement as well as the ratification package will be added to the December agenda.

School Board Attorney Comments

5. School Board Attorney Comments

Minutes:

Jeremiah Blocker, School Board Attorney, reminded the board members of the annual requirement for ethics training which must be
completed by December 31, 2023.

Page 10 of 231

DRAFT



School Board Comments

6. School Board Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Bolla will be attending the Annual Joint Conference organized by Florida School Boards Association (FSBA) and the Florida
Association for District School Superintendents (FADSS), and she noted the opportunity this event provides for professional
interaction with other school board members across the state, including discussion and an exchange of ideas.

Mrs. Gilhousen noted her potential absence from the December board meeting due to a family commitment.

Adjournment  (9:48 a.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 11 of 231

DRAFT



Date: Dec 07 2023 (6:00 p.m.)

School Board of Clay County

Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island, FL

December 7, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Student Showcase  (Grove Park Elementary Chorus, Alexis Johnson, Sponsor)

Invocation  (Chaplain Reese Edwards, Orange Park Medical Center)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Mary Bolla, District 2; Beth Clark, District 3; Michele Hanson, District 4; Ashley Gilhousen,
District 5; and Superintendent David S. Broskie)

Recognitions and Awards

1. Recognize Winners of the Len Mattiace Foundation Anti-Bullying Contest

Minutes:

Laura Fogarty, Director of Climate and Culture, introduced Len Mattiace and Nikki Haley who recognized student winners of the Len
Mattiace Foundation Anti-Bullying Campaign, a contest open to students in grades 6 - 8.  Students submitted projects incorporating
the themes of kindness, inclusion and compassion.  First and second place students received an award of $1,000 and third place
received an award of $100 as well as certificates, hats, and t-shirts.

Lily Veneman (Thunderbolt Elementary - 6th) - First Place
Angela Lin (Green Cove Springs Jr. High - 8th) - Second Place
Zachary Hicks and Ethan Hall (Argyle Elementary - 6th) - Third Place

2. Recognition of Board Member Recipients Mrs. Skipper and Mrs. Bolla of the 2023 Appreciation Award from Tobacco Free Clay

Minutes:

Monique Johnson, Tobacco Policy Manager/Health Educator, and Julie Duncan, Community Engagement Specialist, Tobacco Free
Clay recognized board members Erin Skipper (District 1) and Mary Bolla (District 2) with the 2023 Appreciation Award given to
partnership members or community leaders who have been instrumental in supporting the policy goals and initiatives of Tobacco Free
Clay.

3. Recognize 2023 Founders' Week Art Contest Winners

Founders' Week Art Contest SB Recognition Dec 7.pdf

Minutes:

Maryam Owen, Social Studies Curriculum Specialist, recognized the following students for their winning Founders' Week Art Contest
entries.  This year's contest, which addressed the Founders' Week theme, "The Preamble:  Legacy of "We the People", asked
students to reflect on how they can be responsible citizens in their communities and a goal in the Preamble that helps to make our
country a better place. 

Student Winners Recognized:

K - Penelope Baker (Wilkinson Elementary)
1st - Alivia Austin (Clay Hill Elementary)
2nd (Tie) - Elienai Concepcion (Wilkinson Elementary)
2nd (Tie) - Paisley Snow (McRae Elementary)
3rd - Emma Graham (Fleming Island Elementary)

Page 12 of 231

DRAFT



4th Leah Lowery (Wilkinson Elementary)
5th - Meredith Trumble (Orange Park Elementary)

4. Recognition of Hispanic Heritage Month Contest Winner

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie recognized the winner of Governor Ron DeSantis' and First Lady Casey DeSantis' Hispanic Heritage Month
student winner. 

Joseph Norman (7th grade - Oakleaf Junior High) was one of two recipients of this year's award across the entire state of Florida, in
the middle school (grades 6 - 8) category.  Joseph wrote an essay reflecting the theme "Celebrating Florida's Hispanic Heroes and
Their Contributions to Freedom" to honor the many Hispanic Floridians who have played significant roles in defending freedom and
liberty.

Joseph will receive a two-year Florida College Plan scholarship provided by the Florida Prepaid College Foundation and a $100 gift
card for school supplies.

5. Recognition of Clay County Student Athletes of the Month

Minutes:

Jay Stilianou, Coordinator of District Athletics, recognized Clay County Student-Athletes of the Month:

Brooke Forkum (September), Middleburg High, Volleyball, Beach Volleyball
Brandon Anderson (October), Ridgeview High, Cross Country
Merrick Rapoza (November), Clay High, Football, Basketball, Baseball

6. Recognition of Clay County Coaches of the Month

Minutes:

Jay Stilianou, Coordinator of District Athletics, recognized Clay County Coaches of the Month:

Chris Foy, Oakleaf High, Football
Merridith Forkum, Middleburg High, Volleyball
Bruce Cloud, Fleming Island High, Golf

 

7. Recognition of State Champions

Minutes:

John Stilianou, Coordinator of District Athletics, recognized State Champions as follows:

Keystone Heights Football, 2S - FHSAA Academic Team Championships
Fleming Island Boys Golf, 3A State Champions
Middleburg Girls Volleyball, 5A State Champions
Maryn McDade, Fleming Island High, Swimming
Tyler Mawhinney, Fleming Island High, Golf

8. Athletics Check Presentation to American Cancer Society

Minutes:

John Stilianou, Coordinator of District Athletics, recognized the schools raising funds for "Pink Out Games" in support of breast cancer
research.  Total funds collected by Clay County Athletics is $14,429.75.  A check was presented to Jaclyn Rodriguez, American
Cancer Society, and the community partnership with Caelan Rhinehardt, Youth Football Coordinator, Jaguars PREP was appreciated.
Jaclyn Rodriguez, American Cancer Society, presented Clay County Athletics with a partnership award.

9. Recognition of 2023-2024 School Related Employee of the Year and Teacher of the Year Semi-finalists

Minutes:

Gi Teevan, Board Chair, Carolyn Krall, President, and Michael Rathjen, Vice Chair, Clay Education Foundation, recognized this year's
top 10 semi-finalists for Teacher of the Year and Support-Related Employee of the Year.

Teacher of the Year Semi-Finalists:
Page 13 of 231

DRAFT



Valerie Jenkins, Argyle Elementary
Lisa Allen, Coppergate Elementary
Sherry Bumpers, Lakeside Junior High
Edwin Ormeo, Oakleaf High
Karen Whitten, Oakleaf Junior High
Wendi Stevens, Orange Park Elementary
Allison Altwater, Spring Park Elementary
Regina Bragg, Swimming Pen Creek Elementary
Sara Gums, Wilkinson Elementary
Robin Campbell, Wilkinson Junior High

Support-Related Employee of the Year Semi-Finalists:

Tremery Chambers, Argyle Elementary
Carmen Rivera, Clay Virtual Academy
Philip Turturro, Doctors Inlet Elementary
Josephine Roquemore, Grove Park Elementary
Pamela Saxon, Keystone Heights Elementary
Shalaunda Delano, McRae Elementary
Stacy Jackson, Oakleaf High
Andrea Wilson, Ridgeview High
Valarie Messer, S. Bryan Jennings Elementary
Amanda Zayas, Wilkinson Junior High

10. Recognition of Florida's Educators of Excellence for Native American Heritage Award Recipient

Minutes:

Kelly Mosley and Alice Paulk, Supervisors of Career and Technical Education, recognized Victoria Gwaltney. Oakleaf High School
CTE Teacher, for being a recipient of Governor Ron DeSantis and First Lady Casey DeSantis' Florida's Educators of Excellence for
Native American Heritage Award.

Presenters

School Showcase  (Grove Park Elementary, Justin Jones, Principal)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment)

11. Public Comment

Minutes:

Public speakers:

Bruce Friedman 
Beverly Kay Suits 
Evelyn Hillman 
Tara Richardson  
Judith Chapple

Discussion Agenda

Information Technology Services

12. D1 - Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Revisions to School Board Policy 7.00 (Information Services)

CCSD - 7.00 Information Services Draft 2023.pdf

Legal Adv. Notice of PH Revisions to SB Policy 7.00 Information Services.pdf

Minutes:

Chair Gilhousen opened the public hearing.  With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Motion
Motion to Approve as Advertised Revisions to School Board Policy 7.00 (Information Services)

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Mary Bolla

Page 14 of 231

DRAFT



Second: Michele Hanson
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Mary Bolla - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye

Human Resources

13. D2 - Human Resources Special Action A

Special Action A.pdf (Confidential)

Motion
Motion to Approve Human Resources Special Action A

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Beth Clark
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Mary Bolla - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye

14. D3 - Human Resources Special Action B

Minutes:

There was no Human Resources Special Action B.

15. D4 - Human Resources Special Action C

Minutes:

There was no Human Resources Special Action C.

16. D5 - Human Resources Special Action D

Minutes:

There was no Human Resource Special Action D.

Instruction-Climate and Culture

17. D6 - Public Hearing to Approve As Advertised Revisions to School Board Policy 4.15 (Tobacco Use)

4.15 Tobacco Use (proposed)3 (1).pdf

Legal Adv. Notice of PH for Revisions to SB Policy 4.15 Tobacco Use.pdf

Minutes:

Chair Gilhousen opened the public hearing.  With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Motion
Motion to Approve as Advertised Revisions to School Board Policy 4.15 (Tobacco Use)

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Mary Bolla
Second: Erin Skipper
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye

Page 15 of 231

DRAFT



Mary Bolla - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye

Operations

18. D7 - Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Amendments to School Board Policy 1.14, Sales Surtax Citizens Advisory
Committee

Legal Adv. Notice of PH Revisions to SB Policy 1.14 Sales Surtax Citizens Advisory Committee.pdf

1.14 SALES SURTAX CITIZENS ADVISORY COMMITTEE_revised .pdf

Minutes:

Chair Gilhousen opened the public hearing.  With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Motion
Motion to Approve as Advertised Amendments to School Board Policy 1.14, Sales Surtax Citizens Advisory Committee

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Mary Bolla
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Mary Bolla - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

19. C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on October 24, 2023; Student Discipline Hearings, Organization Meeting, and Regular
Meeting on November 2, 2023

2023 Oct 24 Board Workshop.pdf

2023 Nov 2 Student Hearings.pdf (Confidential)

2023 Nov 2 Organization Meeting.pdf

2023 Nov 2 Regular Mtg.pdf

20. C2 - Proposed Student Calendar for 2025-2026 School Year

DRAFT Student Calendar - Student 2025-2026 .pdf

21. C3 - Approve Resolution #24-08 determining tangible personal property to be surplus and donating said property to the family of
Madaline “Maddy” Laub.

SCHOOL BOARD RESOLUTION. LAUB.pdf

22. C4 - 2024 Legislative Priorities

_2024 Legislative Priorities (1).pdf

School Board Attorney

23. C5 - Social Media Class Action Litigation

Human Resources

24. C6 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Personnel Consent Agenda - Final.pdf

Page 16 of 231

DRAFT



25. C7 - Ratification of the 2023-2024 through 2025-2026 Master Contract between the Clay Education Support Professional
Association Local 7409 and the Clay County School Board.

2023-2024 through 2025-2026 CESPA Ratification of Master Contract

26. C8 - Ratification of the 2023-2024 Amendment to the 2022-2024 Master Contract between the Clay County Education Association
and the Clay County School Board.

CCEA Ratification Package 2023-2024 Amendment - 12-5-23.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

27. C9 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

December 2023 Board Backup.pdf

Instruction-Professional Development

28. C10 - Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Valdosta State University (VSU)

240074 Valdosta State Univ Collab Partnership.pdf

29. C11 - Addition to the Professional Learning Catalog (Master In-service Plan)

CTE (Career and Technical Education) Career and Technical Student Organizations (CTSO) , 10_16_2023.pdf

Business Affairs

30. C12 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024

12.07.23 - 23-24 Allocation Summary.pdf

Business Affairs-Accounting

31. C13 - Monthly Financial Reports for October, 2023

October 2023 Monthly Board Financial Report.pdf

October 2023 Monthly Board Property Report.pdf

Contracts Signed By Super for $50,000 to $100,000.pdf

32. C14 - Budget Amendment Report for October 2023

23-24 Budget Amendment October 2023.pdf

Business Affairs-Property

33. C15 - DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT NOVEMBER, 2023

DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT NOVEMBER, 2023.pdf

Operations

34. C16 - Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles Data Exchange Memorandum of Understanding

FLHMV Data Exchange MOU 12.23.pdf

Operations-Facilities

35. C17 - School Concurrency Proportionate Share Mitigation (PSM) Agreement between the Clay County School Board, Clay
County, Lori A. Bowden, and LJB Land, LLC

Proportionate Share Mitigation Agreement - Russell Road Development 12.7.23.pdf

36. C18 - Change Order #1 for Orange Park Junior High School RTU Replacement Buildings 1, 2, 3, & 4

Change Order #1 OPJ RTU Replacement Buildings 1, 2, 3, & 4.pdf

37. C19 - Prequalification of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 12.7.23.pdf

38. C20 - Change Order #2 for Bannerman Learning Center Parking Lot Renovations/Security Lighting Replacement

Change Order #2 BLC Parking Lot Renovations.pdf

Page 17 of 231

DRAFT



39. C21 - Substantial and Final Completion of Orange Park High School Stadium Repair/Replacement

Substantial Completion OPH Stadium Repair.Replacement.pdf

Final Completion OPH Stadium Repair.Replacement.pdf

40. C22 - Change Order #1 for Fleming Island High School Batting Practice Building and Erosion Control

CO 1 FIH Batting Practice Bldg & Erosion Control.pdf

41. C23 - Change Order #4 for Keystone Heights Elementary School New Cafeteria/Classrooms

Change Order #4 KHE New Cafeteria Classrooms.pdf

Adoption of Consent Agenda

42. Adoption of Consent Agenda

Minutes:

Prior to the vote to adopt the consent agenda, Chair Gilhousen read the following statement into the record:

"There has been a necessary revision to the ratification package attached to Item C8 Ratification of the 2023-2024 Amendment to the
2022-2024 Master Contract between the Clay County Education Association and the clay County School Board.  In accordance
with Florida Statute 120.525(2), a change may be made for good cause.  The ratification package was found to contain errors
requiring the following revisions, and good cause exists for making these revisions:

Article XXVIII: Compensation - (2nd page) corrected data in the "Additional Base Salary Increase Through Performance Pay." 
The salary increases noted for annual contract teachers and professional services contract teachers were transported.  These
amounts are governed by Florida Statute 1012.22 and have been corrected.
Article XXVIII: Compensation - (4th page) corrected data in the "Maximum Percentage of Accumulated Terminal Sick Leave
Days" under Years 5, 6, and 7."

Motion
Motion to Adopt Consent Agenda

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Mary Bolla
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Mary Bolla - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye

CCEA Update  (Victoria Kidwell)

CESPA Update  (None)

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

43. Superintendent's Update

Superintendent's Update 12-07-2023.pdf

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie shared the attached visual presentation highlighting the following:

Schools of the Month
Students of the Month
Holiday Letters to Heroes
OneClay Parent Academy in January
Winter Break Reminders
Upcoming Events

School Board Attorney Remarks

Page 18 of 231

DRAFT



44. School Board Attorney Comments

Minutes:

Jeremiah Blocker, School Board Attorney, advised the board that work is continuing regarding the proposed contract with Clay County
Sheriff's Office.

School Board Member Remarks

45. School Board Member Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Hanson noted that she is proud of the generosity of the board and appreciative of the district's bargaining team and efforts to
bring negotiations to a close before Christmas.  She is proud of what has been accomplished but believes the county can do better for
teachers if the process is started earlier with creativity and more input from the board.  She invited board members to join her as she
holds a community forum on January 16, 2024 to obtain stakeholder input on the Library Media Policy.  Mrs. Hanson will also offer
office hours beginning in February.  She also suggested exploring additional legal services.  Mr. Broskie advised he will be discussing
legal services with The Douglas Firm in the upcoming week.

Mrs. Clark noted the importance of Pearl Harbor Day and extended thanks to Mr. Blocker, School Board Attorney, for his excellent
work.  She would like the board to be able to evaluate supplemental resources with sufficient time before renewal.  She appreciated
Bryce Ellis and the Operations Department for their work on the Keystone Heights cafeteria and looks forward to learning more about
upcoming projects to include portable replacements.

Mrs. Skipper commented that she will continue to fight for and listen to teachers, advocating for more executive sessions and more
meetings with legal to get more done to benefit teachers from both a salary and a classroom perspective.  She expressed
appreciation to Randall Crawford, Director of Transportation, who advocates for his employees, and to the teachers and support staff
at Middleburg High and Wilkinson Junior High for giving a very meaningful gift to a member of her family.

Mrs. Bolla appreciated the Thanksgiving celebration at AMIKids that she enjoyed with students and their families as well as the
numerous thank you notes she received from students at Shadowlawn.  She greatly enjoyed the opportunity to be in schools, interact
with students, and enjoyed the opportunity to attend the Fleming Island High School Community Tour to learn of the community's
interest in Career and Technical Education programs.  She also attended the Argyle Elementary School spelling bee and looks
forward to the W.E. Cherry Elementary door contest.

Mrs. Gilhousen requested board member input to establish committee assignments and graduation preferences for the upcoming
year.  She noted the special place that teachers have in the lives of children and shared that she will be praying for all students
through the holiday season.

Adjournment  (8:27 p.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 19 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C2 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Description
Florida Statutes, State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification and/or action regarding
decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  Actions regarding personnel have been
recommended by Supervisors, approved by the Superintendent and are being forwarded to the Board for action or, if appropriate,
for information.  Personnel Actions, Transfer Requests, Pre-employments, Leave Forms or Directives from the Superintendent
are available for review in the Human Resources Division.

Gap Analysis
These personnel actions are necessary for the effective operation of the school district.

Previous Outcomes
The Clay County School Board has approved each month a Personnel Consent Agenda which contains appointments, re-
appointments, transfers, redesignations, retirements, resignations, and conclude employments.

Expected Outcomes
Approval of the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
To approve the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.  (904) 336-6701 Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Personnel changes involving already-allocated positions will result in salary impact per the current Board-approved Salary
Schedule.  This also includes supplemental positions.  See current backup for allocation changes for impact of new positions.

Review Comments

Attachments

Personnel Consent Agenda - Jan 2024.pdf

Page 20 of 231

DRAFT



Page 21 of 231

DRAFT



Page 22 of 231

DRAFT



Page 23 of 231

DRAFT



Page 24 of 231

DRAFT



Page 25 of 231

DRAFT



Page 26 of 231

DRAFT



Page 27 of 231

DRAFT



Page 28 of 231

DRAFT



Page 29 of 231

DRAFT



Page 30 of 231

DRAFT



Page 31 of 231

DRAFT



Page 32 of 231

DRAFT



Page 33 of 231

DRAFT



Page 34 of 231

DRAFT



Page 35 of 231

DRAFT



Page 36 of 231

DRAFT



Page 37 of 231

DRAFT



Page 38 of 231

DRAFT



Page 39 of 231

DRAFT



Page 40 of 231

DRAFT



Page 41 of 231

DRAFT



Page 42 of 231

DRAFT



Page 43 of 231

DRAFT



Page 44 of 231

DRAFT



Page 45 of 231

DRAFT



Page 46 of 231

DRAFT



Page 47 of 231

DRAFT



Page 48 of 231

DRAFT



Page 49 of 231

DRAFT



Page 50 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C3 -  Elementary Student Out of State Travel

Description
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.
                                                                                                  Field Trips Details

School Date Destination Group Purpose

Spring Park
Elementary

School

March 28,
2024

Valdosta, GA 6th grade

Student will explor the law of conservation of energy
by differentiating between potential and kinetic
energy.  Identifying situations where kinetic energy is
transformed into potential and vice versa.

         
         

Gap Analysis
Field trips provide students with a window to the real world that they don't get in the classroom, and they can help students
understand real-world applications to abstract concepts.

Previous Outcomes
All out of county activity trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that learning outcomes from field trips can range from cognitive to affective outcomes. Exposing
students to new experiences and can increase interest and engagement in academics regardless of prior interests.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure that every classroom provides a quality and rigorous instructional experience in order to elevate student outcomes.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve out of county student travel.   

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6904
Heather Teto, Chief of Elementary Education, heather.teto@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6906.

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Spring Park Elem Out of State Travel.pdf

Page 51 of 231

DRAFT



Page 52 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C4 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

Page 53 of 231

DRAFT



Description
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.
                                                                                                  Field Trips Details

School Date Destination Group Purpose
Green Cove
Junior

4/20/24 Valdosta, GA
Advanced
Band

The advanced band will be participating in a Music
Festival

Green Cove
Junior

2/9 -
2/23/24

Orlando, FL
Cheerleadi
ng

Cheer competition

Lake Asbury
Junior

12/1 -
12/2/23

Melbourne,
FL

TSA
Students

Students participating in an engineering
collaboration

Clay High School 2/2 - 2/3/24 Leesburg, FL
Girls
Weightliftin
g

Regional championship

Clay High School
2/16 -
2/17/24

Lakeland, FL
Girls
Weightliftin
g

State championship

Fleming Island
High

3/11 -
3/14/24

Panama City,
FL

Baseball
Team

Baseball Tournament

Fleming Island
High

12/27 -
12/29/23

New Smyrna
Beach, FL

Boys
Basketball

Basketball Tournament

Keystone
Heights High 

2/15 -
2/18/24

Cocoa Beach
and Daytona,
FL

AJROTC Various location tours

Oakleaf High
School

1/12 -
1/13/24

Live Oak, FL
Boys
Wrestling

Wrestling competition

Oakleaf High
School

1/26 -
1/27/24

Palm Coast,
FL

Boys
Wrestling

Wrestling competition

Oakleaf High
School

12/8 -
12/9/23

Brooksville,
FL

Boys
Wrestling

Wrestling competition

Oakleaf High
School

3/8 -
3/11/24

Orlando, FL
Dance
Team

Dance competition

Orange Park
High

3/8 -
3/11/24

Orlando, FL
Dance
Team

Dance competition

Middleburg High
School

1/10 -
1/13/24

Tampa, FL
All State
Chorus

Chorus competition

Middleburg High
School

3/1 - 3/2/24 Orlando, FL
Cybersecur
ity Team

Cyberlaunch cybersecurity competition

Ridgeview High
School

3/13 -
3/16/24

Tampa, FL
Drama
Club

Florida State Thespian Festival

Gap Analysis
Field trips provide students with a window to the real world that they don't get in the classroom, and they can help students
understand real-world applications to abstract concepts.

Previous Outcomes
All out of county activity trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Page 54 of 231

DRAFT



Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that learning outcomes from field trips can range from cognitive to affective outcomes. Exposing
students to new experiences and can increase interest and engagement in academics regardless of prior interests.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure that every classroom provides a quality and rigorous instructional experience in order to elevate student outcomes.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve out of county student travel.   

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer K12; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6904
Treasure Pickett, Chief of Secondary; treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

January 2024 Student Tavel.pdf

Page 55 of 231

DRAFT



Page 56 of 231

DRAFT



Page 57 of 231

DRAFT



Page 58 of 231

DRAFT



Page 59 of 231

DRAFT



Page 60 of 231

DRAFT



Page 61 of 231

DRAFT



Page 62 of 231

DRAFT



Page 63 of 231

DRAFT



Page 64 of 231

DRAFT



Page 65 of 231

DRAFT



Page 66 of 231

DRAFT



Page 67 of 231

DRAFT



Page 68 of 231

DRAFT



Page 69 of 231

DRAFT



Page 70 of 231

DRAFT



Page 71 of 231

DRAFT



Page 72 of 231

DRAFT



Page 73 of 231

DRAFT



Page 74 of 231

DRAFT



Page 75 of 231

DRAFT



Page 76 of 231

DRAFT



Page 77 of 231

DRAFT



Page 78 of 231

DRAFT



Page 79 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C5 - Overnight Field Trip

Description
The School Board recongizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.

Gap Analysis
Culinary competitions extend teaching and learning through innovative programs, business and community partnerships and
leadership experiences at the school and state level. These types of competitions are a powerful avenue for helping our nation
address key challenges such as workforce development, student achievement, economic vitality and global competitiveness.

Previous Outcomes
All out of state and overnight trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that competitions provide students leadership development skills as well as hands on learning through
project based activities. Competition events expose students to new experiences which increases their engagement within their
educational experience.

Strategic Plan Goal
Strategy 1.3: Prepare all students to be full option graduates who are prepared for college, eligible to enlist in military services. or
able to compete in the workforce.

Recommendation
The CTE Department recommends the school board approves overnight travel for this event.

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer, roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; (904) 336-6904

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Universal Orlando Handheld Competition Feb 5-6, 2024 - KHS and RHS.pdf

Page 80 of 231

DRAFT



Page 81 of 231

DRAFT



Page 82 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C6 - 2025 Early College Program Contract Between the School Board of Clay County and District Board of Trustees of St. Johns
River State College

Description
A collaborative agreement between the St. Johns River State College and the School Board of Clay County for Dual Enrollment
purposes that deals with legislation requiring all school districts to have a K-12 program in place each year.  This agreement
renews the contract for another year with Orange Park High School and Middleburg High School. This program will lead to
more students earning their "AA" degree upon graduating from high school.

Gap Analysis
Through the intentional work and collaboration of the two organizations and "Curriculum and Instructional" department, the
program has gained momentum in these two communities (OPHS and MHS).  The District will continue to identify students who
are eligible for this opportunity by reviewing grades and goals.

Previous Outcomes
Clay County has had a positive working relationship with SJRSC and this agreement benefits the students of the District by
allowing both college credits and high school credits at the same time.

Expected Outcomes
Clay County will continue to provide college-level courses on the two sites and to promote the "Early College Program"
initiative.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 1:Engage all students to attain the necessary skills and knowledge to be future-ready graduates.       
Strategy 1.3: Graduate students who are ready to enroll, enlist, or be employed in the workforce.

Recommendation
That the School Board of Clay County School approve the 2025 College Program Contract Between the School Board of Clay
County and District Board of Trustees of St. Johns River State College.

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904, roger.dailey@myoneclay.net
Treasure Pickett, Chief of Secondary Education, 904-336-6918, treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Approximately $500,000 - 100.5100730.9007.0000 (includes dual enrollment cost)

Review Comments

Attachments

240098 St Johns RIver State College 2025.pdf

Page 83 of 231

DRAFT



Page 84 of 231

DRAFT



Page 85 of 231

DRAFT



Page 86 of 231

DRAFT



Page 87 of 231

DRAFT



Page 88 of 231

DRAFT



Page 89 of 231

DRAFT



Page 90 of 231

DRAFT



Page 91 of 231

DRAFT



Page 92 of 231

DRAFT



Page 93 of 231

DRAFT



Page 94 of 231

DRAFT



Page 95 of 231

DRAFT



Page 96 of 231

DRAFT



Page 97 of 231

DRAFT



Page 98 of 231

DRAFT



Page 99 of 231

DRAFT



Page 100 of 231

DRAFT



Page 101 of 231

DRAFT



Page 102 of 231

DRAFT



Page 103 of 231

DRAFT



Page 104 of 231

DRAFT



Page 105 of 231

DRAFT



Page 106 of 231

DRAFT



Page 107 of 231

DRAFT



Page 108 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C7 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024

Description
Staff allocation documents clarify how each school, district department and division is staffed for the 2023-2024 school year.
The School Board is required to take action on all staff allocation changes.

Gap Analysis
These allocation changes are required to ensure the adequate staffing of the district and schools.

Previous Outcomes
The district and schools are adequately staffed.

Expected Outcomes
Staffing will be sufficient to meet the needs of the various schools and district departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approve staff allocation plan as submitted.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, (904)336-6722, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Reflected in attachment.

Review Comments

Attachments

01.04.24 - 23-24 Allocation Summary.pdf

Page 109 of 231

DRAFT



PROPOSED CHANGES TO STAFF ALLOCATIONS    2023-2024 SUMMARY  Board Meeting, January 4, 2024

School Add Delete Allocation Comment Salary Benefits Total Cost

2023-2024 ACTIONS

General Funds

POE - 0651 0.9 ESE Assistant, Behavior Health Enrollment & program needs $19,035 $6,666 $25,701

TES - 0501 -1.0 Teacher, VESC-ASD Enrollment & program needs ($48,450) ($16,967) ($65,417)

TES - 0501 1.0 Behavior Support Technician, 9 month Enrollment & program needs $25,976 $9,097 $35,073

TOTAL: ($3,439) ($1,204) ($4,643)

Federal Funds (IDEA 420/4100.4)

WEC - 0241 0.9 ESE Assistant, Behavior Health Enrollment & program needs $19,035 $6,666 $25,701

POE - 0651 0.9 ESE Assistant, Behavior Health Enrollment & program needs $19,035 $6,666 $25,701

POE - 0651 -0.9 ESE Assistant, General Health Enrollment & program needs ($19,035) ($6,666) ($25,701)

TOTAL: $19,035 $6,666 $25,701

Pending Board Approval 01/04/2024

Page 110 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C8 - Monthly Financial Reports for November, 2023

Description
The Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008, are submitted for the use and consideration of the Board
for the month ending November 30, 2023.

Gap Analysis
The Monthly Financial Reports show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.

Previous Outcomes
It has been a past (normal) practice to provide Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008.
 

Expected Outcomes
The Monthly Financial Reports are provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's finances.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Strategy 2:  Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize
available resources necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.  Promote fiscal
transparency and communication.
 

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board accept for use and consideration the Superintendent's Monthly Financial Reports for
November, 2023.
 

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs, (904) 336-6721, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The Monthly Financial Reports reflect the year-to-date results of operations.

Review Comments

Attachments

November 2023 Monthly Board Financial Reports.pdf

November 2023 Monthly Board Property Reports.pdf

Contracts Signed By Superintendent for $50,000 to $100,000.pdf

Page 111 of 231

DRAFT



Page 112 of 231

DRAFT



Page 113 of 231

DRAFT



Page 114 of 231

DRAFT



Page 115 of 231

DRAFT



Page 116 of 231

DRAFT



Page 117 of 231

DRAFT



Page 118 of 231

DRAFT



Page 119 of 231

DRAFT



Page 120 of 231

DRAFT



Page 121 of 231

DRAFT



Page 122 of 231

DRAFT



Page 123 of 231

DRAFT



Page 124 of 231

DRAFT



Page 125 of 231

DRAFT



Page 126 of 231

DRAFT



Page 127 of 231

DRAFT



Page 128 of 231

DRAFT



Page 129 of 231

DRAFT



Page 130 of 231

DRAFT



Page 131 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C9 - Budget Amendment Report for November 30, 2023

Description
Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006 requires that the School Board approve amendments to the
district school budget whenever the function and object amounts in the accounts prescribed by the State Board form are changed
from the original budget approved by the School Board.  The Budget Amendments are procedurally necessary to update our
budget to reflect changes as outlined in the attached statements.

Gap Analysis
The monthly budget amendment show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements. 

Previous Outcomes
Reported as per Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006. 

Expected Outcomes
The monthly budget amendment is provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's budget.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal: 2: Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
Approval of the Budget Amendments for November 2023 as presented.

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs

Financial Impact
See attached statements for a complete analysis of the financial impact.

Review Comments

Attachments

23-24 Budget Amendments November 2023.pdf

Page 132 of 231

DRAFT



Page 133 of 231

DRAFT



Page 134 of 231

DRAFT



Page 135 of 231

DRAFT



Page 136 of 231

DRAFT



Page 137 of 231

DRAFT



Page 138 of 231

DRAFT



Page 139 of 231

DRAFT



Page 140 of 231

DRAFT



Page 141 of 231

DRAFT



Page 142 of 231

DRAFT



Page 143 of 231

DRAFT



Page 144 of 231

DRAFT



Page 145 of 231

DRAFT



Page 146 of 231

DRAFT



Page 147 of 231

DRAFT



Page 148 of 231

DRAFT



Page 149 of 231

DRAFT



Page 150 of 231

DRAFT



Page 151 of 231

DRAFT



Page 152 of 231

DRAFT



Page 153 of 231

DRAFT



Page 154 of 231

DRAFT



Page 155 of 231

DRAFT



Page 156 of 231

DRAFT



Page 157 of 231

DRAFT



Page 158 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C10 - DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT DECEMBER, 2023

Description
The items listed have been surveyed by the Coordinator of Property Control, at the request of the Cost Center Property Manager,
and the recommended disposition is noted. These items are either obsolete, unusable or beyond economical repair. These items
should be removed from active inventory and disposed of in the manner indicated. Deletions are for property items received in
the month of November, 2023.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Property Records followed State mandate on trackable assets, Chapter 274.05

Expected Outcomes
Tangible Personal Property shall be controlled and supervised from acquisition through transfer or disposal. Disposal of property
shall be in accordance with Section 274.05, Florida Statutes. All deletions of items with a value of $1,000.00 or more will be
approved by The School Board of Clay County prior to disposition - School Board Policy Section 5.03C.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5: Strategy 5.4; Enhance fiscal practices that enable the district to maximize effectiveness and efficienc

Recommendation
Approve Deletion of Certain Items Report - December, 2023 as submitted

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko,
Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs
(904)-336-6721
susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Provides additional storage space and eliminates the need to account for unusable property. Reduces the dollar value of Tangible
Personal Property

Review Comments

Attachments

DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT DECEMBER, 2023.pdf

Page 159 of 231

DRAFT



Page 160 of 231

DRAFT



Page 161 of 231

DRAFT



Page 162 of 231

DRAFT



Page 163 of 231

DRAFT



Page 164 of 231

DRAFT



Page 165 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C11 - BID Award - *Pending Vendor Information*

Description
Award BID as required per FS 287, DOE 6A-1.012 and School Board Policy
Building Code Inspection and Plan Review Services -Countywide Bid #23-F-245:  Contract Period is for a one (1) year period
from April 1, 2024 through March 31, 2025 with the option to renew for three (3) additional one (1) year contract periods upon
mutual agreement, in writing. Bid established for the purchase of all necessary labor, materials, equipment and transportation to
provide Building Code Inspections and Plan Review Services throughout the District on an as needed basis. The vendors
awarded are the lowest, most responsive and responsible qualified bidders meeting specifications.   

Gap Analysis
The District requires contractors to provide services to ensure our ??facilities and equipment are maintained and functional. The
District requires vendors to provide products to ensure our students and staff receive the items to meet their needs.

Previous Outcomes
No prior bids have been awarded for these services. Services are to supplement work done by District Building Official.

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board, we expect the vendor to provide quality services and products at the terms and conditions listed in
the Bid.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5; Strategy 5.4; Enhance fiscal practices that enable the district to maximize effectiveness and efficiency.

Recommendation
Award BID as follows:
Building Code Inspection and Plan Review Services -Countywide Bid #23-F-245: 

Section A Primary Award:-
Section A Secondary Award:-
Section B Primary Award:-
Section B Secondary Award:-

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Building Code Inspection and Plan Review Services -Countywide Bid #23-F-245:  The estimated expenditure for the one (1)
year contract is $65,000.00 from General Revenue.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 166 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C12 - Appointments for the Citizens Oversight Committee

Description
The citizens of Clay County approved a half-cent school capital outlay sales surtax on the November 2020 general election
ballot. School Board Policy 1.14, which was adopted by the School Board on February 4, 2021, provides for the formation of a
Citizens Oversight Committee to monitor and report on the use of the sales surtax revenues to assure the public that the monies
are being utilized as provided for by state law. The committee must consist of recommended appointees by each School Board
member and by the Superintendent of Schools. School Board Policy 1.14 requires that the recommended Committee, which
includes all proposed appointees, including alternate appointees who will only assume duties if needed, must be approved by the
School Board as a whole at a regular School Board meeting.

Gap Analysis
There are times in which previously appointed individuals and/or alternates representing a District are unable to complete their
service on the Oversight Committee.  In this instance, the Board member with the vacancy must recommend an individual for
appointment to comply with School Board Policy 1.14.  

Previous Outcomes
The School Board of Clay County adopted School Board Policy 1.14 on February 20, 2021 which created the Citizen’s Oversight
Committee to monitor and report annually on the compliance with surtax revenues as required by the half-cent surtax referendum
adopted in the November 2020 general election.  On May 6, 2021 the Board approved the appointments of the inaugural Citizens
Oversight Committee members and alternates.  

Expected Outcomes
It is expected that the School Board will approve the recommended members and/or alternates to serve on the Citizens Oversight
Committee as submitted.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve new appointments to the Half-Cent Sales Surtax Citizens Oversight Committee as submitted by the individual members
of the School Board and the Superintendent of Schools.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent, Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Planning & Intergovernmental Relations, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director, Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Citizens Advisory Committee_4_Jan_24.pdf

Page 167 of 231

DRAFT



 

 

 

 

 

Citizen Oversight Committee Members 

January 4, 2024 

 
 

District Active Member  

(Expires May 6, 2024) 
Active Member 

(Expires May 6, 2026) 
Alternate Member 

(Indefinite) 

District 1 Horace Tucker Rhonda Jett Mike Cella 

District 2 Peter Antonacci Seidah Durante Paul Cassanova 

District 3 Alan Watt Glen Stroman Harrison Clark 

District 4 Shawn Jackson Samuel J. Kilgore Donald Triest 

District 5 Felicia Hampshire Scotty Taylor Thomas Smith 

Superintendent Jeff Nelson  Samantha Lawson 

 

Page 168 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C13 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for Middleburg High School Restroom
Renovations

Description
Each phase or a combination of phases is submitted to the School Board for review and approval. The plans have received staff
review and are complete to Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) stage.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Individual departments have the opportunity to express needs during plan review in order to design a project that will meet user’s
expectations.

Expected Outcomes
Schematic, Preliminary and Final Plan review allows for participation from a variety of departments to ensure any program
changes are incorporated into the design.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for Middleburg High School Restroom
Renovations.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
As budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan for $300,00.00. The architect’s cost estimate is $334,059.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 169 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C14 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for Clay High School Parking Lot
Renovation/Redesign

Description
Each phase or a combination of phases is submitted to the School Board for review and approval. The plans have received staff
review and are complete to Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) stage.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Individual departments have the opportunity to express needs during plan review in order to design a project that will meet user’s
expectations.

Expected Outcomes
Schematic, Preliminary and Final Plan review allows for participation from a variety of departments to ensure any program
changes are incorporated into the design.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for Clay High School Parking Lot
Renovation/Redesign.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
As budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan for $4,000,000.00. The architect’s cost estimate is $3,500,000.00.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 170 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C15 - Final Completion of Orange Park Junior High School HVAC Repair/Replacement

Description
Establish a Final Completion date for audit purposes and as required by the State Requirements for Educational Facilities (SREF)
and Florida Statutes. The project, as determined by the Project Manager and Project Architect/Engineer, has reached Final
Completion on December 7, 2023 in accordance with the project documents.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Final Completion.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None.

Review Comments

Attachments

Certificate of Final Completion - OPJ HVAC Repair Replacement.pdf

Page 171 of 231

DRAFT



Page 172 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C16 - Approve the 2023/2024 – 2027/2028 Educational Facilities Work Plan

Description
The Educational Facilities Work Plan is developed and reviewed by District staff and approved by the School Board each fiscal
year. The Plan establishes a systematic approach to Educational Facility Construction in order to meet the needs of the district.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
The Board has reviewed and approved the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Expected Outcomes
Meet the state requirement by submitting the five-year Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve the plan.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
As shown in the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

EFP Tables for 2023_2024 WORK PLAN 12-2023.pdf

Work Plan 2023.pdf

Page 173 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

1

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCE

LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

LCIF

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF
LCIF
EDFIRST
LCIF
LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL

MIL

LCIF
LCIF
GRANT
EDFIRST
LCIF
LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF
EDFIRST

IMPACT FEES

EDFIRST
LCIF

PROJECT TITLE 

CARRYOVER 22/23

BLC Parking Lot Renovations/Security Lighting Replacement $137,000.00 $137,000.00
GCJ Digital Marquees $3,500.00 $3,500.00
CHS Restroom Renovations $50,000.00 $50,000.00

CHS Gym Renovations $2,500,000.00 $2,500,000.00

LJH Gym Renovations $930,000.00 $930,000.00
LJH Restroom Renovations $100,000.00 $100,000.00
FIH Erosion Control/Stormwater Repair $100,000.00 $100,000.00
FIH Replace Batting Practice Building and Erosion Control $750,000.00 $750,000.00
OPE Covered Play Area $0.00 $0.00
OPH Stadium Repair/Replacement $70,648.17 $70,648.17
OPJ HVAC Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00
OPJ Restroom Renovations $60,000.00  $60,000.00
OPJ Window Replacement $6,742.57 $6,742.57

GCJ Window/HVAC Replacement $ 200,000.00 $200,000.00

GCJ Window/HVAC Replacement $ 170,000.00 $170,000.00
KHE New Cafeteria/Classrooms $775,000.00 $775,000.00
KHS Safety & Security - Single Key Initiative $185,733.06 $185,733.06
KHS Restroom Renovations $20,000.00 $20,000.00
MBE Covered Walkway $150,000.00 $150,000.00
MBT MB Transportation Underground Tanks $50,000.00 $50,000.00
MHS Cafeteria Expansion $150,000.00 $150,000.00
MHS Greenhouse Replacement $186,200.00 $186,200.00
MHS HVAC Repair/Replacement $60,000.00 $60,000.00
MHS Safety & Security - Single Key Initiative $100,000.00 $100,000.00
OPH Safety & Security - Control Access $5,000.00 $5,000.00
POE Covered Play Area $0.00 $0.00
RHS Roof Repair/Replacement $125,000.00 $125,000.00
RVE Roof Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00
SLE Covered Play Area $0.00 $0.00

SPRING PARK
ELEMENTARY New Elementary School 2022/2023 $500,000.00 $500,000.00

WES Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations $173,000.00 $173,000.00
ANCILLARY Green Cove Transportation Underground Tank Replacement $46,975.30 $46,975.30

Page 174 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

2

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

 

BLC Kitchen Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $212,500.00 $2,500,000.00 $2,712,500.00
BLC Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $229,724.55 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $229,724.55

CHS Track Improvements $600,000.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,100,000.00
CHS Parking Lot Renovation/Redesign $4,000,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,000,000.00
CHS Security Fencing $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
CHS Erosion Control $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
CHS Facade Renovation $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,500,000.00 $4,000,000.00 $6,500,000.00
CHS Freezer/Cooler Replacement $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
CHS Digital Marquee $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
CHS Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $665,393.27 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $665,393.27
CHS Safety & Security - Single Key Initiative $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
CHS Automotive/Carpentry Exterior Renovation/Remodeling $0.00 $0.00 $150,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $150,000.00

FIH Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $803,850.78 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $803,850.78
FIH Digital Marquee $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
FIH Track Improvements $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $1,250,000.00
FIH Lab Upgrades $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
FIH Restroom Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

KHS Parking Lot Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $350,000.00 $0.00 $350,000.00
KHS Greenhouse Replacement $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
KHS Erosion Control $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
KHS Covered Walkway $0.00 $350,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $350,000.00
KHS Safety & Security - Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $450,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $450,000.00
KHS Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $702,122.91 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $702,122.91
KHS KHS Cafeteria Floor Replacement $0.00 $0.00 $350,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $350,000.00
KHS Digital Marquee $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
KHS Gym Floor Resurface $0.00 $45,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $45,000.00
KHS Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,000,000.00 $0.00 $10,000,000.00
KHS Visitor Concession Stand $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

MHS Restroom Renovations $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
MHS Digital Marquee $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
MHS Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $850,357.77 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $850,357.77

HIGH
SCHOOLS

LCIF
MIL

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
GRANT
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
LCIF

MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
CTE
EDFIRST

EDFIRST
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL

Page 175 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

3

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

MHS Bus Loop Automatic Gate $0.00 $ 60,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $60,000.00
MHS Soundproof Gym $0.00 $80,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $80,000.00
MHS Safety & Security - Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00 $450,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $450,000.00
MHS Parking Lot Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
MHS Outdoor PE/Playground/Repair Replacement $90,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $90,000.00

OHS Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $880,985.94 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $880,985.94
OHS Sidewalk/Crossing Improvements $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
OHS Digital Marquee $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
OHS Track Improvements $0.00 $700,000.00 $450,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,150,000.00
OHS Safety & Security - Single Key Initiative $0.00 $800,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $800,000.00
OHS Safety & Security - Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00

 
OPH Covered Walkway $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
OPH Asphalt Repair/Replacement $0.00 $125,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $125,000.00
OPH Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $1,091,247.21 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,091,247.21
OPH Media Center Renovation $1,500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,500,000.00
OPH Gym Renovation $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
OPH Roof Repair/Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
OPH Tennis Court Repairs $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00
OPH Restroom Renovation $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
OPH Athletic Field Lighting $0.00 $450,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $450,000.00
OPH Renovate Weight Room/Drama $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
OPH CTE Lab Upgrade $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
OPH CTE Lab Upgrade $97,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $97,000.00
OPH Security Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

 
RHS Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $907,825.57 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $907,825.57
RHS HVAC Repair/Replacement $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00
RHS Parking Lot Renovations $0.00 $150,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $150,000.00
RHS Track Improvements $1,125,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,125,000.00
RHS Ceiling and Lighting Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
RHS Court Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00
RHS Safety & Security - Single Key Initiative $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
RHS Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
RHS Safety & Security - Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $450,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $450,000.00

 

GCJ Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $495,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $495,000.00

MIL
EDFIRST
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

MIL
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL
EDFIRST
CTE
CTE
MIL

MIL
LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL

MIL

$0.00

$0.00

JUNIOR HIGH

Page 176 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

4

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

GCJ Gym LED Lighting Upgrade $0.00 $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
GCJ Scoreboard Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
GCJ Safety & Security - Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
GCJ Restroom Renovation $0.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00
GCJ Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,000,000.00 $0.00 $20,000,000.00
GCJ Stadium Demolition/Removal $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00

      
LAJ Classroom Addition (BOND) $18,000,000.00 $800,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $18,800,000.00
LAJ Classroom Addition (CO&DS) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
LAJ Classroom Addition (LCIF) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
LAJ Classroom Addition (IMPACT FEES) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
LAJ HVAC Repair/Replacement $850,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $850,000.00
LAJ Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $495,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $495,000.00
LAJ Scoreboard Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
LAJ Restroom Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00
LAJ Digital Marquee $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00

 
LJH Scoreboard Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
LJH Window Replacement $0.00 $600,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $600,000.00
LJH Ceiling and Lighting Replacement $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
LJH Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $495,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $495,000.00
LJH Restroom Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00
LJH Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,000,000.00 $20,000,000.00

 
OLJ Classroom Addition (BOND) $18,000,000.00 $800,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $18,800,000.00
OLJ Classroom Addition (CO&DS) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
OLJ Classroom Addition (LCIF) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
OLJ Classroom Addition (IMPACT FEES) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,528,254.27
OLJ Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $515,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $515,000.00
OLJ Restroom Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
OLJ Scoreboard Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
OLJ Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
OLJ Tennis Court Repairs $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00

 
OPJ Parking Lot and Site Drainage Improvements $0.00 $210,000.00 $3,000,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $3,210,000.00
OPJ Drainage-Stormwater Systems Renovation/Repair $0.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00
OPJ Scoreboard Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
OPJ Restroom Renovations $0.00 $75,000.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $825,000.00
OPJ Ceiling and Lighting Replacement $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

BOND
IMPACT FEES
BOND
IMPACT FEES
LCIF
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF
LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

BOND
CO&DS
LCIF
BOND
LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

EDFIRST
LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL

Page 177 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

5

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

OPJ Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
OPJ Roof Repair/Replacement $1,600,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,600,000.00
OPJ Safety & Security - Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
OPJ Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $495,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $495,000.00
OPJ Digital Marquee $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00

 
WJH Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00 $400,000.00
WJH Restroom Renovations $0.00 $50,000.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $550,000.00
WJH Scoreboard Replacement $0.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
WJH Culinary Program Upgrades $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
WJH Restroom Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00
WJH Fire Alarm Replacement $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
WJH Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $495,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $495,000.00

 

AES HVAC Repair/Replacement $475,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $475,000.00
AES Covered Play Area $191,406.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $191,406.00
AES Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $700,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $700,000.00
AES Safety & Security - Cameras $131,341.76 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $131,341.76
AES Site Improvements $0.00 $150,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $150,000.00
AES Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00

 
CEB Roof Repair/Replacement $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
CEB Security Lighting Repair/Replacement $19,200.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $319,200.00
CEB Cafeteria Expansion $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
CEB Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
CEB Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $700,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $700,000.00
CEB Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00

 
CGE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
CGE Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00 $4,000,000.00 $0.00 $4,400,000.00
CGE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
CGE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $700,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $700,000.00

 
CHE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $313,727.04 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $313,727.04
CHE HVAC Repair/Replacement $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
CHE HVAC Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
CHE Safety & Security - Fencing $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00
CHE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $700,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $700,000.00

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL
LCIF
EDFIRST

IMPACT FEES
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
CTE
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
LCIF
EDFIRST

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL

EDFIRST
IMPACT FEES
MIL
MIL

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL

$0.00

 

ELEMENTARY

Page 178 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

6

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

CHE Safety & Security - Cameras $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
CHE Safety & Security - Cameras $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00

 
DIS HVAC Repair/Replacement $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
DIS Plumbing Repair/Replacement $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
DIS Covered Play Area $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
DIS Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
DIS Security Lighting Repair/Replacement $16,000.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $316,000.00
DIS Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
DIS Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

 
DOE Safety & Security - BDA  Upgrade $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
DOE Asphalt and Sidewalk Improvements $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
DOE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $150,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $150,000.00
DOE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

 
FIE HVAC Repair/Replacement $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
FIE Digital Marquee $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00
FIE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
FIE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
FIE Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
FIE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00

 
GPE Electrical Repair/Replacement $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
GPE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
GPE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $337,539.87 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $337,539.87
GPE Safety & Security - Cameras $116,391.37 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $116,391.37
GPE Digital Marquee $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
GPE Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations $175,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $175,000.00

 
KHE Digital Marquee $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
KHE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
KHE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
KHE Safety & Security - Cameras $164,732.21 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $164,732.21

 
LAE Digital Marquee $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
LAE Boiler/Plumbing Renovation/Repair $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
LAE Classroom Addition $800,000.00 $16,000,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $16,800,000.00
LAE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

SS GRANT
MIL

EDFIRST
LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL

MIL
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL

EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
MIL

LCIF
MIL
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST

MIL
MIL
MIL
MIL

MIL
LCIF
IMPACT FEES
MIL

Page 179 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

7

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

LAE Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations $0.00 $175,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $175,000.00
LAE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00

 
LSE Restroom Renovations $30,000.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $330,000.00
LSE Remove Storage Building $0.00 $20,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,000.00
LSE Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations $0.00 $2,500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,500,000.00
LSE Security Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
LSE Safety & Security - Cameras $127,110.71 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $127,110.71
LSE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
LSE HVAC Repair/Replacement $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
LSE Covered Play Area $0.00 $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
LSE Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

 
MBE Building Removal $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
MBE Stair Replacement/Repair $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
MBE Drainage-Stormwater Systems Renovation/Repair $0.00 $200,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00
MBE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
MBE HVAC Repair/Replacement $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00

MBE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

 
MCE New/Repair/Renovate Concrete/Sidewalks/Parking $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00
MCE Track Improvements $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
MCE Electrical Panel Replacement $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
MCE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
MCE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
MCE Safety & Security - Cameras $124,371.99 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $124,371.99
MCE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $130,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $130,000.00
MCE Roof Replacement/Repair $0.00 $750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $750,000.00
MCE Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovation $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

 
MRE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $300,480.79 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,480.79
MRE Digital Marquee $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
MRE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
MRE Wastewater Treatment Repair/Replacement $0.00 $150,000.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $650,000.00
MRE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00

 
OPE Restroom Renovations $35,000.00 $350,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $385,000.00

LCIF
MIL

EDFIRST
LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF

LCIF
EDFIRST
LCIF
MIL
EDFIRST

MIL

EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST
EDFIRST
LCIF

EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
LCIF
MIL

EDFIRST

Page 180 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

8

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

OPE Safety & Security - Cameras $141,799.18 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $141,799.18
OPE Digital Marquee $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
OPE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
OPE Parent Pick-up/Redesign $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $550,000.00
OPE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00

 
OVE Safety & Security - Cameras $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
OVE Safety & Security - Cameras $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00
OVE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
OVE Covered Play Area $187,071.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $187,071.00

 
PES Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations $0.00 $175,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $175,000.00
PES Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
PES Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
PES Classroom Addition $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

 
POE Safety & Security - Cameras $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
POE Safety & Security - Cameras $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00
POE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
POE Digital Marquee $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
POE Security Lighting Repair/Replacement $0.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00

ROE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
ROE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
ROE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
ROE Classroom Addition $0.00 $500,000.00 $10,000,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,500,000.00

 
RVE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
RVE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
RVE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

 
SBJ Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
SBJ Safety & Security - Cameras $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
SBJ $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00
SBJ Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
SBJ New Administration/Cafeteria/Kitchen $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

SLE Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
SLE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00

MIL
EDFIRST
MIL
LCIF
EDFIRST

SS GRANT
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST

LCIF
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST

SS GRANT
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST
MIL

EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
IMPACT FEES

EDFIRST
MIL
MIL

LCIF
SS GRANT
MIL
MIL
LCIF

EDFIRST
MIL

$0.00

Page 181 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

9

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

SLE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
SLE Digital Marquee $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00

 
SPC HVAC Repair/Replacement $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
SPC Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
SPC Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00
SPC Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $160,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $160,000.00

 
TBE Drainage-Stormwater Systems Renovation/Repair $0.00 $1,000,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,000,000.00
TBE Generator Replacement $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00
TBE Safety & Security - Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $25,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $35,000.00
TBE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
TBE Digital Marquee $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00
TBE Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00

 
TES Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $254,437.19 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $254,437.19
TES Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00
TES Safety & Security - Cameras $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00

 
WEC Safety & Security - Cameras $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
WEC Safety & Security - Cameras $50,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50,000.00
WEC New Cafeteria/Classrooms $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
WEC Restroom Renovations $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
WEC Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
WEC Security Lighting Repair/Replacement (Exterior) $0.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
WEC Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

 
WES Outdoor PE/Playground Repair/Replacement $70,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $400,000.00 $0.00 $470,000.00
WES Track Improvements $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $100,000.00
WES Digital Marquee $0.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75,000.00
WES Safety & Security - Cameras $40,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $40,000.00
WES Safety & Security - Cameras $105,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $105,000.00
WES Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $500,000.00

 

SCHOOL "RRR" New High School (Phase I) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

MIL
EDFIRST

EDFIRST
MIL
MIL
EDFIRST

LCIF
MIL
EDFIRST
MIL
EDFIRST
MIL

EDFIRST
MIL
MIL

SS GRANT
MIL
LCIF
LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL
MIL

LCIF
EDFIRST
MIL
SS GRANT
MIL
MIL

IMPACT FEES

$0.00

$0.00

 

NEW
SCHOOLS

Page 182 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

10

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

GRANTS

ANCILLARY

COUNTY-WIDE

GRANT Educational Facilities Grant - 399/3 (CHARTER) $32.18 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $32.18
Educational Facilities Grant - 399/4 CHARTER $24,950.64 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $24,950.64

GRANT Educational Facilities Grant  - 399/5 (CHARTER) $10,690.43 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,690.43

Educational Facilities Grant - 399/6 CHARTER $28,400.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $28,400.00

ANCILLARY Asphalt and Sidewalk Improvements $25,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

ANCILLARY Safety & Security -  Control Access $35,263.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $35,263.00

ANCILLARY District Office Renovation/Remodeling $25,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $25,000.00

ANCILLARY District Office Renovation/Remodeling $200,000.00 $150,000.00 $350,000.00 $350,000.00 $350,000.00 $1,400,000.00

ANCILLARY MB Transportation - Renovation $0.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
ANCILLARY County Office - HC Long Window Replacement $0.00 $300,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
ANCILLARY District Office Renovation/Remodeling $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
ANCILLARY District Office Fire Alarm Replacements $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
ANCILLARY Safety & Security - Cameras $207,122.91 $0.00 $0.00 $250,000.00 $0.00 $457,122.91
ANCILLARY BCC - Clay County Emergency Radio System $134,069.52 $134,069.52 $134,069.52 $134,069.52 $134,069.52 $670,347.60

COUNTY-WIDE Asphalt and Sidewalk Improvements $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $110,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Bleacher Repair/Replacement $50,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $185,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Classroom Addition $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $110,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Covered Play Areas $50,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $185,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Covered Walkways $50,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $185,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Digital Marquees $32,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $167,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Energy Conservation Upgrades $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $25,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE EHPA Retrofit $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $25,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Erosion Control/Storm Water Repair $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $110,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Flooring Repair/Replacement $100,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $335,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Fire Alarm Replacements $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $110,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Access Controls $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $25,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE HVAC Repair/Replacement $75,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $260,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE HVAC Controls $50,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $185,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Land Acquisition $6,750,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $6,750,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Locker Repair/Replacement $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $145,000.00

GRANT
GRANT

GRANT

GRANT

LCIF

MIL

LCIF

LCIF

LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
MIL
MIL

LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF

Page 183 of 231

DRAFT



 Work Plan Capital Projects Worksheet - Dec.

11

LOCATION 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 2027/2028 5 YEAR TOTAL CURRENT YEAR
FUNDING SOURCEPROJECT TITLE 

COUNTY-WIDE Locks - Campus Upgrades $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $90,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Master Planning (School Campuses) $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $95,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Outdoor PE/Playground Area Repairs $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $110,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Plumbing/Irrigation Repair/Replacement $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $25,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Relocatable Disposal $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $25,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Reroof Relocatables $200,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $285,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Restroom Renovations $100,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 $385,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Road Improvements (Gas Tax) $103,211.74 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $46,500.00 $46,500.00 $231,211.74
COUNTY-WIDE Roof Repair/Replacement $100,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $335,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Control Access $250,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $335,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Cameras $42,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $127,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Door Replacement $300,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $250,000.00 $250,000.00 $835,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Fencing (Grant) $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $2,500,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Fencing (Safety MILL) $615,930.48 $500,000.00 $10,000.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $2,125,930.48
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Lighting Repair/Replacement (Exterior) $50,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $185,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Projects (Miscellaneous) $190,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $190,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Single Key Initiative (Internal/Perimeter) $0.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $135,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - BDA Upgrades $100,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $235,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Safety & Security - Emergency Communications $0.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $85,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Site Improvements $100,000.00 $25,000.00 $10,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $335,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE Technology $5,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
COUNTY-WIDE Equipment $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $0.00

COUNTY-WIDE $1,041,595.63 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
COUNTY-WIDE $275,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $275,000.00
COUNTY-WIDE $804,457.00 $1,927,445.00 $1,927,445.00 $866,315.00 $0.00 $5,525,662.00

COUNTY-WIDE $320,122.30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $320,122.30

MIL
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
LCIF
GAS TAX
LCIF
LCIF
MIL
EDFIRST
GRANT
MIL
EDFIRST
LCIF
MIL
EDFIRST
MIL
LCIF
EDFIRST
EDFIRST

CLASSROOM ADDITIONS LCIF
PROJECT CONTINGENCY LCIF
PROJECTED (FAIR SHARE / IMPACT FEE) IMPACT FEES

CONTINGENCY (EDFIRST) EDFIRST

Page 184 of 231

DRAFT



District CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Fiscal Year Range

CERTIFICATION

By submitting this electronic document, we certify that all information provided in this 5-year district facilities work program is accurate, all capital outlay 
resources are fully reported, and the expenditures planned represent a complete and balanced capital outlay plan for the district. The district Superintendent of 
Schools, Chief Financial Officer, and the School Board have approved the information contained in this 5-year district facilities work program; they certify to the 
Department of Education, Office of Educational Facilities, that the information contained herein is correct and accurate; they also certify that the plan has been 
developed in coordination with the general purpose local governments as required by §1013.35(2) F.S. We understand that any information contained in this 5-
year district facilities work program is subject to audit by the Auditor General of the State of Florida.

Date of School Board Adoption

Work Plan Submittal Date

DISTRICT SUPERINTENDENT

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

DISTRICT POINT-OF-CONTACT PERSON

JOB TITLE

PHONE NUMBER

E-MAIL ADDRESS

The 5-Year District Facilities Work Program is a very important document. The Department of Education, Legislature, Governor's Office, Division of Community 
Planning (growth management), local governments, and others use the work program information for various needs including funding, planning, and as the 
authoritative source for school facilities related information.

The district's facilities work program must be a complete, balanced capital outlay plan that is financially feasible. The first year of the work program is the districts 
capital outlay budget. To determine if the work program is balanced and financially feasible, the "Net Available Revenue" minus the "Funded Projects Costs" 
should sum to zero for "Remaining Funds".

If the "Remaining Funds" balance is zero, then the plan is both balanced and financially feasible.
If the "Remaining Funds" balance is negative, then the plan is neither balanced nor feasible.
If the "Remaining Funds" balance is greater than zero, the plan may be feasible, but it is not balanced.

INTRODUCTION

Total Project Costs

Total Revenues

$9,805,975 $1,772,475 $7,029,247 $6,563,702 $21,491,826 $46,663,225Difference (Remaining Funds)

2023 - 2024 2024 - 2025 2025 - 2026 2026 - 2027 2027 - 2028 Five Year Total

$97,521,338 $52,178,990 $46,843,262 $54,155,587 $49,612,396 $300,311,573

Summary of revenue/expenditures available for new construction and remodeling projects only.

$87,715,363 $50,406,515 $39,814,015 $47,591,885 $28,120,570 $253,648,348

Page 1 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 185 of 231

DRAFT



Item 2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

HVAC $701,637 $701,637 $701,637 $701,637 $701,637 $3,508,185

Locations: ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, 
KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE 
JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, 
MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M 
PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park 
Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Flooring $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000 $1,000,000

Locations: ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, 
KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE 
JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, 
MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M 
PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park 
Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Roofing $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $50,000

Locations: ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, 
KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE 
JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, 
MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M 
PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park 
Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Safety to Life $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Locations: No Locations for this expenditure.

Expenditure for Maintenance, Repair and Renovation from 
1.50-Mills and PECO
Annually, prior to the adoption of the district school budget, each school board must prepare a tentative district facilities work program that includes a schedule of 
major repair and renovation projects necessary to maintain the educational and ancillary facilities of the district.

Expenditures

Page 2 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 186 of 231

DRAFT



Fencing $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $10,000

Locations: ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, 
KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE 
JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, 
MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M 
PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park 
Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Parking $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Locations: No Locations for this expenditure.

Electrical $19,363 $19,363 $19,363 $19,363 $19,363 $96,815

Locations: ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, 
KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE 
JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, 
MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M 
PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park 
Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Fire Alarm $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $150,000

Locations: ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, 
KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE 
JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, 
MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M 
PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park 
Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Telephone/Intercom System $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Locations: No Locations for this expenditure.

Closed Circuit Television $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Locations: No Locations for this expenditure.

Paint $85,000 $85,000 $85,000 $85,000 $85,000 $425,000

Page 3 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 187 of 231

DRAFT



Locations: ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, 
KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE 
JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, 
MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M 
PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park 
Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Maintenance/Repair $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Locations: No Locations for this expenditure.

Sub Total: $1,048,000 $1,048,000 $1,048,000 $1,048,000 $1,048,000 $5,240,000

PECO Maintenance Expenditures $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

1.50 Mill Sub Total: $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $8,000,000

Other Items 2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

Concrete $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $100,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Drainage-Stormwater Systems $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $500,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Page 4 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 188 of 231

DRAFT



Play Courts $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $10,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Boilers $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $75,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

EWC $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $250,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Restroom Partitions $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $5,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Maintenance Overtime $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $100,000

Page 5 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 189 of 231

DRAFT



Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Bleachers $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $5,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Cafeteria/Stage Floors $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $10,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Energy Management System $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $100,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Plumbing $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $15,000

Page 6 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 190 of 231

DRAFT



Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Portables $90,000 $90,000 $90,000 $90,000 $90,000 $450,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Elevators $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $10,000

Locations LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH

Emergency Generators $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $40,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Doors $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 $10,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Covered Walkways $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $5,000

Page 7 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 191 of 231

DRAFT



Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Asphalt Surfaces $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $150,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Tree Cutting, Trimming and Removal $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $100,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

WWR Plants $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $75,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Plant Services $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $250,000

Page 8 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 192 of 231

DRAFT



Item 2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

Remaining Maint and Repair from 1.5 Mills $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $8,000,000

Maintenance/Repair Salaries $2,640,000 $2,640,000 $2,640,000 $2,640,000 $2,640,000 $13,200,000

School Bus Purchases $1,604,207 $3,075,000 $3,075,000 $3,075,000 $3,075,000 $13,904,207

Other Vehicle Purchases $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay Equipment $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $2,500,000

Rent/Lease Payments $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

COP Debt Service $5,191,682 $8,493,802 $8,360,413 $8,483,600 $6,107,600 $36,637,097

Rent/Lease Relocatables $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Environmental Problems $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

s.1011.14 Debt Service $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Special Facilities Construction Account $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Premiums for Property Casualty Insurance - 1011.71 
(4a,b)

$1,930,000 $1,950,000 $1,950,000 $1,950,000 $1,950,000 $9,730,000

Qualified School Construction Bonds (QSCB) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Qualified Zone Academy Bonds (QZAB) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Bus GPS $110,035 $112,320 $112,320 $129,168 $129,168 $593,011

District Wide Technology $3,700,000 $2,300,000 $2,400,000 $2,500,000 $2,600,000 $13,500,000

 Local 1.50 Mill Expenditure For Maintenance, Repair and Renovation

Anticipated expenditures expected from local funding sources over the years covered by the current work plan.

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

HVAC Controls $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $500,000

Locations ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES ORANGE PARK ANNEX, ARGYLE ELEMENTARY, CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY, CLAY HIGH 
SCHOOL, CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY, CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY, DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY, FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH, FOOD SERVICES 
STORAGE, GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH, GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY, HARRIS C LONG ADMINISTRATION, J L 
WILKINSON ELEMENTARY, JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY, KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH, KEYSTONE TRANSPORTATION, LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY, LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH, LAKESIDE 
ELEMENTARY, LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH, MCRAE ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY, MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH, 
MIDDLEBURG TRANSPORTATION, MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY, OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL, OAKLEAF SCHOOL, OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY, ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH, ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH, PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY, R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER, RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY, RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY, 
RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH, ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY, S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY, SCHOOL BUS GARAGE, 
SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY, Spring Park Elementary, SUPPORT SERVICES AG LOT, SUPPORT SERVICES CENTER, SWIMMING 
PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY, THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY, TYNES ELEMENTARY, W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY

Total: $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $1,600,000 $8,000,000

Page 9 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 193 of 231

DRAFT



Bus Lease Interest $80,317 $53,999 $27,229 $0 $0 $161,545

Bus/Radio Lease Purchase $1,535,242 $1,561,561 $1,588,331 $0 $0 $4,685,134

Charters (Edfirst) $875,000 $910,000 $946,400 $984,256 $1,023,626 $4,739,282

Charters (LCIF) $323,082 $546,052 $851,840 $1,181,219 $1,535,584 $4,437,777

Interest for GPS $2,285 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,285

Local Expenditure Totals: $20,091,850 $23,742,734 $24,051,533 $23,043,243 $21,160,978 $112,090,338

Item Fund 2023 - 2024 
Actual Value

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

(1) Non-exempt property 
assessed valuation 

$19,176,265,443 $20,174,943,468 $21,399,075,185 $22,652,072,377 $23,829,040,512 $107,231,396,985

(2) The Millage projected for 
discretionary capital outlay per 
s.1011.71 

1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50

(3) Full value of the 1.50-Mill 
discretionary capital outlay per 
s.1011.71

$32,216,126 $33,893,905 $35,950,446 $38,055,482 $40,032,788 $180,148,747

(4) Value of the portion of the 1.50
-Mill ACTUALLY levied

370 $27,613,822 $29,051,919 $30,814,668 $32,618,984 $34,313,818 $154,413,211

(5) Difference of lines (3) and (4) $4,602,304 $4,841,986 $5,135,778 $5,436,498 $5,718,970 $25,735,536

Item Fund 2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

PECO New Construction 340 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

PECO Maintenance Expenditures $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Item Fund 2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

CO & DS Cash Flow-through 
Distributed

360 $1,499,838 $1,499,838 $1,499,838 $1,499,838 $1,499,838 $7,499,190

1.50 Mill Revenue Source

PECO Revenue Source

CO & DS Revenue Source

Schedule of Estimated Capital Outlay Revenue from each currently approved source which is estimated to be available for expenditures on the projects included 
in the tentative district facilities work program. All amounts are NET after considering carryover balances, interest earned, new COP's, 1011.14 and 1011.15 
loans, etc. Districts cannot use 1.5-Mill funds for salaries except for those explicitly associated with maintenance/repair projects. (1011.71 (5), F.S.)

The figure in the row designated "PECO Maintenance" will be subtracted from funds available for new construction because PECO maintenance dollars cannot 
be used for new construction.

Revenue from Capital Outlay and Debt Service funds.

Revenue

Page 10 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 194 of 231

DRAFT



CO & DS Interest on 
Undistributed CO

360 $22,851 $22,851 $22,851 $22,851 $22,851 $114,255

$1,522,689 $1,522,689 $1,522,689 $1,522,689 $1,522,689 $7,613,445

Item 2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

Creek View Trails Prop Share agreement, 
banking

$583,769 $583,769 $583,769 $583,769 $583,769 $2,918,845

Ayrshire PUD (The Rookery) Prop Share 
agreement, banking

$0 $131,171 $131,171 $131,171 $131,171 $524,684

Reinhold Corp. North Res. 725, Prop 
Share agreement, banking

$151,375 $151,375 $151,375 $151,375 $151,375 $756,875

Branan Field Park, DR Horton, money $0 $1,061,130 $1,061,130 $0 $0 $2,122,260

Integra Apartments, Armstrong, money $69,313 $0 $0 $0 $0 $69,313

$804,457 $1,927,445 $1,927,445 $866,315 $866,315 $6,391,977

Fair Share Revenue Source

No

Sales Surtax Referendum

Additional Revenue Source

Item 2023 - 2024 
Actual Value

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total

Proceeds from a s.1011.14/15 F.S. Loans $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

District Bonds - Voted local bond 
referendum proceeds per s.9, Art VII 
State Constitution

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Proceeds from Special Act Bonds $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Estimated Revenue from CO & DS Bond 
Sale

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Proceeds from Voted Capital 
Improvements millage

$9,000,000 $9,000,000 $9,000,000 $9,000,000 $0 $36,000,000

Other Revenue for Other Capital Projects $46,500 $46,500 $46,500 $46,500 $46,500 $232,500

Proceeds from 1/2 cent sales surtax 
authorized by school board

$16,000,000 $16,640,000 $17,305,600 $17,997,824 $18,717,737 $86,661,161

Proceeds from local governmental 
infrastructure sales surtax

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Proceeds from Certificates of 
Participation (COP's) Sale

$36,000,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $36,000,000

Classrooms First Bond proceeds amount 
authorized in FY 1997-98

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

All legally binding commitments for proportionate fair-share mitigation for impacts on public school facilities must be included in the 5-year district work program.

Specific information about any referendum for a 1-cent or ½-cent surtax referendum during the previous year.

Any additional revenue sources

Did the school district hold a surtax referendum during the past fiscal year 2022 - 2023?

Page 11 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 195 of 231

DRAFT



Classrooms for Kids $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

District Equity Recognition $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Federal Grants $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Proportionate share mitigation (actual 
cash revenue only, not in kind donations)

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Impact fees received $8,000,000 $8,100,000 $8,200,000 $8,300,000 $8,400,000 $41,000,000

Private donations $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Grants from local governments or not-for-
profit organizations

$568,716 $0 $0 $0 $0 $568,716

Interest, Including Profit On Investment $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Revenue from Bonds pledging proceeds 
from 1 cent or 1/2 cent Sales Surtax

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Fund Balance Carried Forward $18,057,004 $9,633,171 $2,077,893 $6,846,518 $6,906,315 $43,520,901

General Capital Outlay Obligated Fund 
Balance Carried Forward From Total 
Fund Balance Carried Forward

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Special Facilities Construction Account $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

One Cent - 1/2 Cent Sales Surtax Debt 
Service From Total Fund Balance Carried 
Forward

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Capital Outlay Projects Funds Balance 
Carried Forward From Total Fund 
Balance Carried Forward

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Subtotal $87,672,220 $43,419,671 $36,629,993 $42,190,842 $34,070,552 $243,983,278

Item Name 2023 - 2024 
Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Five Year Total

Local 1.5 Mill Discretionary Capital Outlay 
Revenue

$27,613,822 $29,051,919 $30,814,668 $32,618,984 $34,313,818 $154,413,211

PECO and 1.5 Mill Maint and Other 1.5 
Mill Expenditures

($20,091,850) ($23,742,734) ($24,051,533) ($23,043,243) ($21,160,978) ($112,090,338)

PECO Maintenance Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Available 1.50 Mill for New 
Construction

$7,521,972 $5,309,185 $6,763,135 $9,575,741 $13,152,840 $42,322,873

Item Name 2023 - 2024 
Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Five Year Total

CO & DS Revenue $1,522,689 $1,522,689 $1,522,689 $1,522,689 $1,522,689 $7,613,445

PECO New Construction Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Other/Additional Revenue $88,476,677 $45,347,116 $38,557,438 $43,057,157 $34,936,867 $250,375,255

Total Additional Revenue $89,999,366 $46,869,805 $40,080,127 $44,579,846 $36,459,556 $257,988,700

Total Revenue Summary

Page 12 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 196 of 231

DRAFT



$97,521,338Total Available Revenue $52,178,990 $46,843,262 $54,155,587 $49,612,396 $300,311,573

Project Description Location 2023 - 2024 2024 - 2025 2025 - 2026 2026 - 2027 2027 - 2028 Total Funded

LAE Classroom 
Addition

LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

Planned 
Cost:

$800,000 $16,000,000 $0 $0 $0 $16,800,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 528 0 0 0 528

Total Classrooms: 0 24 0 0 0 24

Gross Sq Ft: 0 51,149 0 0 0 51,149

WEC Cafetorium/ 
Administration/Classr
oom Wing (Castaldi)

W E CHERRY 
ELEMENTARY

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $0 $100,000 $0 $100,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 0 1 0 1

GCJ Classroom 
Addition

GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS JUNIOR 
HIGH

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $0 $20,000,000 $0 $20,000,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 704 0 704

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 32 0 32

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 0 58,456 0 58,456

ROE Classroom 
Addition

RIDEOUT 
ELEMENTARY

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $500,000 $10,000,000 $0 $0 $10,500,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 264 264 0 0 528

Total Classrooms: 0 12 12 0 0 24

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 21,921 0 0 21,921

Capacity Project Schedules

A schedule of capital outlay projects necessary to ensure the availability of satisfactory classrooms for the projected student enrollment in K-12 programs.

Project Schedules

Page 13 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 197 of 231

DRAFT



RHS Classroom 
Addition (Design)

RIDGEVIEW 
SENIOR HIGH

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $0 $400,000 $0 $400,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 0 1 0 1

County Wide 
Classroom Additions

CLAY 
SUPERINTENDENT'
S OFFICE

Planned 
Cost:

$25,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $110,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Sq Ft: 1 1 1 1 1 5

KHE New 
Cafeteria/Classroom
s (Closeout)

KEYSTONE 
HEIGHTS 
ELEMENTARY

Planned 
Cost:

$775,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $775,000 Yes

Student Stations: 44 0 0 0 0 44

Total Classrooms: 2 0 0 0 0 2

Gross Sq Ft: 2,020 0 0 0 0 2,020

LAJ Classroom 
Addition

LAKE ASBURY 
JUNIOR HIGH

Planned 
Cost:

$18,000,000 $800,000 $0 $0 $0 $18,800,000 Yes

Student Stations: 704 0 0 0 0 704

Total Classrooms: 32 0 0 0 0 32

Gross Sq Ft: 58,456 0 0 0 0 58,456

KHS Classroom 
Addition

KEYSTONE 
HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR 
HIGH

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $0 $10,000,000 $0 $10,000,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 400 0 400

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 16 0 16

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 0 29,228 0 29,228

Classroom Addition LAKESIDE JUNIOR 
HIGH

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $0 $0 $20,000,000 $20,000,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 0 704 704

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 32 32

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 0 0 58,456 58,456

OLJ Classroom 
Addition

OAKLEAF SCHOOL Planned 
Cost:

$18,000,000 $800,000 $0 $0 $0 $18,800,000 Yes

Page 14 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 198 of 231

DRAFT



Student Stations: 704 0 0 0 0 704

Total Classrooms: 32 0 0 0 0 32

Gross Sq Ft: 58,456 0 0 0 0 58,456

Classroom Addition  
(Design)

JACK L WILKINSON 
JUNIOR HIGH

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 $400,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 0 0 1 1

Classroom Addition COPPERGATE 
ELEMENTARY

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $400,000 $4,000,000 $0 $4,400,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Sq Ft: 0 0 1 1 0 2

Classroom Addition 
(Design)

FLEMING ISLAND 
ELEMENTARY

Planned 
Cost:

$0 $0 $0 $400,000 $0 $400,000 Yes

Student Stations: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Sq Ft: 0 1 0 0 0 1

Planned Cost: $37,600,000 $18,125,000 $10,410,000 $34,925,000 $20,425,000 $121,485,000

Student Stations: 1,452 792 264 1,104 704 4,316

Total Classrooms: 66 36 12 48 32 194

Gross Sq Ft: 118,933 51,151 21,923 87,688 58,458 338,153

Project Description Location 2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total Funded

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR 
HIGH

$495,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $495,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$850,358 $0 $0 $0 $0 $850,358 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL $880,986 $0 $0 $0 $0 $880,986 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

OAKLEAF SCHOOL $0 $100,000 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Media Center Renovation ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$1,500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,500,000 Yes

Other Project Schedules

Major renovations, remodeling, and additions of capital outlay projects that do not add capacity to schools.

Page 15 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 199 of 231

DRAFT



Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$495,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $495,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$141,799 $0 $0 $0 $0 $141,799 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY $0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras SHADOWLAWN 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $250,000 $0 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

SWIMMING PEN CREEK 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Replace 
Batting Practice Building & 
Erosion Control

FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

$750,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $750,000 Yes

Athletic Field Lighting (Softball) ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $450,000 $0 $0 $0 $450,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations (Admin 
& Cafeteria)

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $30,000 $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $330,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

S BRYAN JENNINGS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Lab Upgrades FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

$100,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
ELEMENTARY

$164,732 $0 $0 $0 $0 $164,732 Yes

Parking Lot Renovations 
(Resurface/Reseal)

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$0 $0 $0 $350,000 $0 $350,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$702,123 $0 $0 $0 $0 $702,123 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $250,000 $0 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH $495,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $495,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Digital Marquee MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

MCRAE ELEMENTARY $0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras MCRAE ELEMENTARY $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Tennis Court Repairs OAKLEAF SCHOOL $0 $0 $0 $10,000 $0 $10,000 Yes

Tennis Court Repairs ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $0 $0 $10,000 $0 $10,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

ROBERT M PATERSON 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Parking Lot (Softball and 
Baseball Fields) - Millings

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $150,000 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY $0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras RIDGEVIEW 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras S BRYAN JENNINGS 
ELEMENTARY

$150,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE 
CENTER

$229,725 $0 $0 $0 $0 $229,725 Yes

Facade Renovation CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $0 $0 $0 $2,500,000 $4,000,000 $6,500,000 Yes

Page 16 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 200 of 231

DRAFT



Digital Marquee FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

$75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

OAKLEAF SCHOOL $515,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $515,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Security  
Control Access (West Campus)

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$5,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Lighting 
Repair/Replacement

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $450,000 $0 $0 $0 $450,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

RIDGEVIEW 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement - Outdoor 
Court Resurfacing

THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY

$25,000 $0 $10,000 $0 $0 $35,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

TYNES ELEMENTARY $0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

W E CHERRY 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

JACK L WILKINSON 
JUNIOR HIGH

$495,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $495,000 Yes

Automotive/Carpentry Exterior 
Renovation/Remodel

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $0 $0 $150,000 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Track Improvements FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

$0 $0 $500,000 $750,000 $0 $1,250,000 Yes

Ceiling/Lighting Replacement 
(Cafeteria & Hallways)

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations (PE) ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $75,000 $750,000 $0 $0 $825,000 Yes

Track Improvements RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$1,125,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,125,000 Yes

Digital Marquee KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $127,111 $0 $0 $0 $0 $127,111 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Wastewater Treatment 
Repair/Replacement

MCRAE ELEMENTARY $0 $150,000 $500,000 $0 $0 $650,000 Yes

Kitchen Addition R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE 
CENTER

$0 $0 $212,500 $2,500,000 $0 $2,712,500 Yes

Restroom Renovations JACK L WILKINSON 
JUNIOR HIGH

$0 $50,000 $500,000 $0 $0 $550,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Restroom 
Renovations Building 1, 2, & 3

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH $100,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Window Replacement 
(Buildings 1, 2, 3, 5)

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH $0 $600,000 $0 $0 $0 $600,000 Yes

Parking Lot and Site Drainage 
Improvements

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $210,000 $3,000,000 $0 $0 $3,210,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

ARGYLE ELEMENTARY $0 $700,000 $0 $0 $0 $700,000 Yes

Security Cameras ARGYLE ELEMENTARY $131,342 $0 $0 $0 $0 $131,342 Yes

Cafeteria Expansion CHARLES E BENNETT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $0 $250,000 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

CHARLES E BENNETT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $700,000 $0 $0 $0 $700,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras COPPERGATE 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY $150,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Page 17 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 201 of 231

DRAFT



Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY $0 $700,000 $0 $0 $0 $700,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Security Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

$16,000 $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $316,000 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replacement DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

$200,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $150,000 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Site Improvements (Playground 
Drainage)

ARGYLE ELEMENTARY $0 $150,000 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

ARGYLE ELEMENTARY $0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Security Lighting 
Repair/Replacement

CHARLES E BENNETT 
ELEMENTARY

$19,200 $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $319,200 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

CHARLES E BENNETT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Parking Lot 
Renovation/Redesign

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $4,000,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,000,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $665,393 $0 $0 $0 $0 $665,393 Yes

Track Improvements CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $600,000 $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $1,100,000 Yes

Restroom Renovation FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY $313,727 $0 $0 $0 $0 $313,727 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

FLEMING ISLAND 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Asphalt and Sidewalk 
Improvements

DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

$200,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Digital Marquee GROVE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY

$70,000 $0 $0 $400,000 $0 $470,000 Yes

Track Improvements J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $100,000 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations (PE) JACK L WILKINSON 
JUNIOR HIGH

$0 $0 $750,000 $0 $0 $750,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Restroom 
Renovations

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$20,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $20,000 Yes

Greenhouse Replacement 
(CTE)

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$0 $250,000 $0 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Single Key 
Initiative - Internal/Perimeter - 
(CW)

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$185,733 $0 $0 $0 $0 $185,733 Yes

Safety & Security - Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$0 $450,000 $0 $0 $0 $450,000 Yes

Erosion Control (Portable Area) KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$0 $0 $400,000 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Page 18 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 202 of 231

DRAFT



Covered Walkway (Parent 
Pickup and Gym)

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$0 $350,000 $0 $0 $0 $350,000 Yes

New Concession Stand 
Building (Visitor Side)

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations 
(Freezer/Cooler Replacement)

LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $175,000 $0 $0 $0 $175,000 Yes

Boiler/Plumbing 
Renovation/Repair

LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

$100,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $0 $750,000 $0 $0 $750,000 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replacement 
Building 7 & 8

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Security Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $0 $0 $300,000 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Ceiling and Lighting 
Replacement (Cafeteria)

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations (PE) LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH $0 $0 $750,000 $0 $0 $750,000 Yes

Stair Replacement/Repair MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

$75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Drainage - Stormwater 
Systems Renovation/Repair

MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Bus Loop Automatic Gate MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $60,000 $0 $0 $0 $60,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Greenhouse 
Replacement

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$186,200 $0 $0 $0 $0 $186,200 Yes

Soundproof Gymnasium MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $80,000 $0 $0 $0 $80,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations (Phase 
II)

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $0 $450,000 $0 $0 $450,000 Yes

Parking Lot Renovations (Bus 
Loop Drainage/Paving Design)

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $0 $0 $200,000 $0 $200,000 Yes

Clay Track Improvements MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $100,000 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Resurface PE Basketball Court 
(Asphalt)

MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $130,000 $0 $0 $0 $130,000 Yes

Roof Replacement/Repair 
(Reroof Buildings 1 & 2 Flat 
Roof)

MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $750,000 $0 $0 $0 $750,000 Yes

Sidewalk/Crossing 
Improvements

OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL $0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Security 
Lighting Repair/Replacement 
(Exterior)

OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL $0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Track Improvements OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL $0 $700,000 $450,000 $0 $0 $1,150,000 Yes

Digital Marquee OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations (PE - 
Design)

OAKLEAF SCHOOL $0 $0 $0 $75,000 $0 $75,000 Yes

Covered Play Area OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY

$187,071 $0 $0 $0 $0 $187,071 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Restroom Renovations ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$35,000 $350,000 $0 $0 $0 $385,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Page 19 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 203 of 231

DRAFT



CARRYOVER - Restroom 
Renovations

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$60,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $60,000 Yes

Digital Marquee J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Fire Alarm Replacement JACK L WILKINSON 
JUNIOR HIGH

$500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Scoreboard Replacement JACK L WILKINSON 
JUNIOR HIGH

$0 $100,000 $100,000 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Cafeteria Floor Replacement KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$0 $0 $350,000 $0 $0 $350,000 Yes

Covered Play Area LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $0 $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Remove Storage Building - 
Demo

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $0 $20,000 $0 $0 $0 $20,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

MCRAE ELEMENTARY $300,481 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,481 Yes

Digital Marquee MCRAE ELEMENTARY $0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Electrical Panel Replacement 
(Cafe)

MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Single Key 
Initiative - Internal/Perimeter - 
(CW)

OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL $0 $800,000 $0 $0 $0 $800,000 Yes

Scoreboard Replacement - 
Indoor and Outdoor

OAKLEAF SCHOOL $0 $100,000 $100,000 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY

$150,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Parent Pick-up/Redesign ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $50,000 $500,000 $0 $550,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Outdoor 
PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Scoreboard Replacement - 
Indoor and Outdoor

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $100,000 $100,000 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Asphalt Repair/Replacement ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $125,000 $0 $0 $0 $125,000 Yes

Generator Replacement THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

GRANT - Educational Facilities 
Grant - 399/3 (CHARTER)

Location not specified $32 $0 $0 $0 $0 $32 Yes

GRANT - Educational Facilities 
Grant - 399/4 CHARTER

Location not specified $24,951 $0 $0 $0 $0 $24,951 Yes

CARRYOVER - Gym 
Renovations (Locker Room and 
Gym)

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH $930,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $930,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

$803,851 $0 $0 $0 $0 $803,851 Yes

CARRYOVER - Erosion 
Control/Stormwater Repair 
(Drainage)

FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

$100,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Window/HVAC 
Replacement (Buildings 1, 2, 3 
& 4) (Architect combine with 
Bard Replacement)

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$370,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $370,000 Yes

Drainage - Stormwater 
Systems Renovation/Repair

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $750,000 $0 $0 $0 $750,000 Yes

Page 20 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 204 of 231

DRAFT



HVAC Repair/Replacement MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

$300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replacement ARGYLE ELEMENTARY $475,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $475,000 Yes

Covered Play Area ARGYLE ELEMENTARY $191,406 $0 $0 $0 $0 $191,406 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replacement 
Building 5

CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Fencing CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY $50,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $50,000 Yes

Scoreboard Replacement - 
Indoor and Outdoor

LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $100,000 $100,000 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replacement LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR 
HIGH

$850,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $850,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras CHARLES E BENNETT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

CTE Lab Upgrade - 
Engineering Program

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $100,000 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$907,826 $0 $0 $0 $0 $907,826 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replacement 
Building 1

FLEMING ISLAND 
ELEMENTARY

$300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras FLEMING ISLAND 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

FLEMING ISLAND 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras ROBERT M PATERSON 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

GROVE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$337,540 $0 $0 $0 $0 $337,540 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras GROVE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$116,391 $0 $0 $0 $0 $116,391 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

GROVE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Parking Lot/New Parent Pickup MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 $200,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

$150,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

SHADOWLAWN 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras SWIMMING PEN CREEK 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras TYNES ELEMENTARY $0 $0 $250,000 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras W E CHERRY 
ELEMENTARY

$150,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY

$145,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $145,000 Yes

ANCILLARY
District Office 
Renovation/Remodeling - 
Building 2 (Old ITS Building)

Location not specified $200,000 $150,000 $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 $1,400,000 Yes

ANCILLARY
District Office 
Renovation/Remodeling

Location not specified $25,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $25,000 Yes

Page 21 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 205 of 231

DRAFT



ANCILLARY
BCC - Clay County Emergency 
Radio System

Location not specified $134,070 $134,070 $134,070 $134,070 $134,070 $670,350 Yes

ANCILLARY
County Office - HC Long 
Window Replacement

Location not specified $0 $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

ANCILLARY
MB Transportation - 
Renovation (Shop 
Expansion/Admin Bldg/Driver 
Parking/Training Lot)

Location not specified $0 $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

ANCILLARY
Safety & Security - Control 
Access

Location not specified $35,263 $0 $0 $0 $0 $35,263 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Asphalt and Sidewalk 
Improvements

Location not specified $25,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $110,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Bleacher Replacement

Location not specified $50,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $185,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Covered Walkways

Location not specified $50,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $185,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Energy Conservation Upgrades

Location not specified $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $25,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Erosion Control/Storm Water 
Repair

Location not specified $25,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $110,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Flooring Repair/Replacement

Location not specified $100,000 $25,000 $10,000 $100,000 $100,000 $335,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
HVAC Repair/Replacement

Location not specified $75,000 $25,000 $10,000 $75,000 $75,000 $260,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Replace HVAC Controls

Location not specified $50,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $185,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Locker Repair/Replacement

Location not specified $10,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $145,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Locks - Campus Upgrades

Location not specified $25,000 $25,000 $10,000 $15,000 $15,000 $90,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Plumbing/Irrigation 
Repair/Replacement

Location not specified $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $25,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Relocatable Disposal

Location not specified $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $25,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Reroof Relocatables

Location not specified $200,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $285,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Restroom Renovations

Location not specified $100,000 $25,000 $10,000 $125,000 $125,000 $385,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Road Improvements (Gas Tax)

Location not specified $103,212 $25,000 $10,000 $46,500 $46,500 $231,212 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Roof Repair/Replacement

Location not specified $100,000 $25,000 $10,000 $100,000 $100,000 $335,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Safety & Security (Control 
Access)

Location not specified $250,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $335,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Safety & Security Projects 
(Miscellaneous)

Location not specified $190,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $190,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Safety & Security - Cameras

Location not specified $42,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $127,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Site Improvements

Location not specified $100,000 $25,000 $10,000 $100,000 $100,000 $335,000 Yes

Page 22 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 206 of 231

DRAFT



Gym Floor Resurface KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

$0 $45,000 $0 $0 $0 $45,000 Yes

Restroom Renovation ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Roof 
Repair/Replacement - Building 
2

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$125,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $125,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$495,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $495,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

$124,372 $0 $0 $0 $0 $124,372 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE 
Land Acquisition

Location not specified $6,750,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $6,750,000 Yes

Building 3 Removal MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Cameras MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $250,000 $0 $0 $0 $250,000 Yes

Roof Repair/Replacement ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$1,600,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,600,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Covered Play Areas

Location not specified $50,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $185,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Window 
Replacement (Buildings 1, 2, 3, 
& 4)

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$6,743 $0 $0 $0 $0 $6,743 Yes

CTE Lab Upgrades - Health 
Sciences

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$97,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $97,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$1,091,247 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,091,247 Yes

Gym Renovation (Ceiling, 
Lighting, Main Floor LED 
Lighting and Doors, Bleachers)

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Roof Repair/Replacement 
(ROTC Breezeway Reroof Flat 
Roof)

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $100,000 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Covered Walkway ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Digital Marquee PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $75,000 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Security Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Parking Lot 
Renovations/Security Lighting 
Replacement

R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE 
CENTER

$137,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $137,000 Yes

Ceiling and Lighting 
Replacement (Building 1, 
Media Center)

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replace Building 
3

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$50,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $50,000 Yes

Court Repair/Replacement RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $0 $0 $10,000 $0 $10,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

SHADOWLAWN 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

HVAC Repair/Replacement SWIMMING PEN CREEK 
ELEMENTARY

$500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

TYNES ELEMENTARY $254,437 $0 $0 $0 $0 $254,437 Yes

Security Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

W E CHERRY 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Page 23 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 207 of 231

DRAFT



COUNTY-WIDE 
Safety & Security - Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

Location not specified $50,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $185,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Digital 
Marquees

Location not specified $32,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $167,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE EHPA Retrofit 
(County Funded)

Location not specified $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $25,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Fire Alarm 
Replacements

Location not specified $25,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $110,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Master 
Planning (School Campuses)

Location not specified $10,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $95,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Safety & 
Security - Door Replacement

Location not specified $300,000 $25,000 $10,000 $250,000 $250,000 $835,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Outdoor 
PE/Playground Area Repairs

Location not specified $25,000 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $110,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE 
Safety & Security -Single Key 
Access Initiative 
(Internal/Perimeter)

Location not specified $0 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $135,000 Yes

Plumbing Repair/Replacement DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

$100,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

CARRYOVER Gym 
Renovations (Locker Room and 
Gym)

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $2,500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $2,500,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Restroom 
Renovations

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $50,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $50,000 Yes

Scoreboard Replacement - 
Indoor and Outdoor

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH $0 $100,000 $100,000 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Safety & 
Security - Single Key Initiative - 
Internal/Perimeter - (CW)

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$100,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 Yes

Renovate Weight Room/Drama 
(Building 27)

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement S BRYAN JENNINGS 
ELEMENTARY

$300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

COPPERGATE 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $700,000 $0 $0 $0 $700,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

COPPERGATE 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Scoreboard Replacement - 
Indoor and Outdoor

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$0 $100,000 $100,000 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Safety & Security- Lighting 
Repair/Replacement (Exterior)

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$0 $400,000 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Restroom Renovation (PE) GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$0 $750,000 $0 $0 $0 $750,000 Yes

Gymnasium LED Lighting 
Upgrade

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$0 $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations 
(Freezer/Cooler Replacement)

ROBERT M PATERSON 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $175,000 $0 $0 $0 $175,000 Yes

Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations 
(Freezer/Cooler Replacement)

GROVE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$175,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $175,000 Yes

Roof Repair/Replacement 
(Buildings 4 & 5 Flat Roofs and 
Cafeteria)

CHARLES E BENNETT 
ELEMENTARY

$300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

$400,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $400,000 Yes

Digital Marquee SHADOWLAWN 
ELEMENTARY

$75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

Covered Play Area DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

$200,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Page 24 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 208 of 231

DRAFT



Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations 
(Freezer/Cooler Replacement)

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY $0 $2,500,000 $0 $0 $0 $2,500,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

SWIMMING PEN CREEK 
ELEMENTARY

$160,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $160,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$90,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $90,000 Yes

Stadium Demolition/Removal GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Digital Marquee ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

$75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Digital 
Marquee

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

$3,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $3,500 Yes

CARRYOVER - ANCILLARY
GC Transportation 
Underground Tank 
Replacement

Location not specified $46,975 $0 $0 $0 $0 $46,975 Yes

GRANT - Educational Facilities 
Grant - 399/5 (CHARTER)

Location not specified $10,690 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,690 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Projected (Fair 
Share/Impact Fee)

Location not specified $804,457 $1,927,445 $1,927,445 $866,315 $0 $5,525,662 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Safety & 
Security - Fencing (Grant)

Location not specified $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $2,500,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE Classroom 
Additions

Location not specified $1,041,596 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,041,596 Yes

Digital Marquee LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR 
HIGH

$0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 No

Digital Marquee LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 No

Digital Marquee THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 $75,000 No

Grant - Educational Facilities 
Grant - 399/6 (CHARTER)

Location not specified $28,400 $0 $0 $0 $0 $28,400 No

New 
Administration/Cafeteria/Kitche
n

S BRYAN JENNINGS 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $0 $500,000 $0 $500,000 Yes

Freezer/Cooler Replacement CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $200,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200,000 Yes

Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $0 $500,000 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

Outdoor PE/Playground 
Repair/Replacement

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY $300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 Yes

Drainage - Stormwater 
Systems Renovation/Repair

THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY

$0 $1,000,000 $0 $0 $0 $1,000,000 Yes

New Elementary School - 
Closeout

Spring Park Elementary $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Covered 
Walkway

MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

$150,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

Digital Marquee CLAY HIGH SCHOOL $75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - HVAC 
Repair/Replacement

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$60,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $60,000 Yes

Security Lighting 
Repair/Replacement

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$0 $500,000 $0 $0 $0 $500,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Safety & security - 
BDA Upgrades

Location not specified $100,000 $25,000 $10,000 $50,000 $50,000 $235,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE 
Safety & Security - Emergency 
Communications

Location not specified $0 $25,000 $10,000 $25,000 $25,000 $85,000 Yes

Page 25 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 209 of 231

DRAFT



COUNTY-WIDE 
Technology

Location not specified $5,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Equipment

Location not specified $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $2,500,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Project Contingency

Location not specified $275,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $275,000 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE
Safety & Security - Fencing 
(MILL)

Location not specified $615,930 $500,000 $10,000 $500,000 $500,000 $2,125,930 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE 
Contingency (EDFIRST)

Location not specified $320,122 $0 $0 $0 $0 $320,122 Yes

Electrical Repair/Replacement GROVE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

$75,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $75,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Cafeteria 
Expansion

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

$150,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $150,000 Yes

CARRYOVER - Stadium 
Repair/Replacement

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

$70,648 $0 $0 $0 $0 $70,648 Yes

CARRYOVER - 
Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations

J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY

$173,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $173,000 Yes

ANCILLARY
Asphalt & Sidewalk 
Improvements

Location not specified $25,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $25,000 Yes

ANCILLARY
Safety & Security - Cameras

Location not specified $207,123 $0 $0 $250,000 $0 $457,123 Yes

COUNTY-WIDE 
Access Controls

Location not specified $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $25,000 Yes

$50,143,763 $32,431,515 $29,404,015 $12,666,885 $7,770,570 $132,416,748

Project Description Location Num 
Classroom

s

2023 - 2024 
Actual Budget

2024 - 2025 
Projected

2025 - 2026 
Projected

2026 - 2027 
Projected

2027 - 2028 
Projected

Total Funded

Project description not 
specified

Location not 
specified

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 No

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Additional Project Schedules

Nothing reported for this section.

Any projects that are not identified in the last approved educational plant survey.

Non Funded Growth Management Project Schedules

Schedule indicating which projects, due to planned development, that CANNOT be funded from current revenues projected over the next five years.

Capacity Tracking

Tracking

Page 26 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 210 of 231

DRAFT



Location 2023 - 
2024 Satis. 

Stu. Sta.

Actual 
2023 - 

2024 FISH 
Capacity

Actual 
2022 - 
2023 

COFTE

# Class 
Rooms

Actual 
Average 
2023 - 

2024 Class 
Size

Actual 
2023 - 
2024 

Utilization

New 
Stu. 

Capacity

New 
Rooms to 

be 
Added/Re

moved

Projected 
2027 - 
2028 

COFTE

Projected 
2027 - 
2028 

Utilization

Projected 
2027 - 

2028 Class 
Size

GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
JUNIOR HIGH

1,034 930 789 45 18 85.00 % 462 21 842 60.00 % 13

CHARLES E BENNETT 
ELEMENTARY

830 830 606 45 13 73.00 % 0 0 621 75.00 % 14

R C BANNERMAN 
LEARNING RESOURCE 
CENTER

570 570 230 35 7 40.00 % 0 0 236 41.00 % 7

ORANGE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

504 504 475 26 18 94.00 % 0 0 486 96.00 % 19

GROVE PARK 
ELEMENTARY

512 512 443 28 16 86.00 % 0 0 454 89.00 % 16

W E CHERRY 
ELEMENTARY

881 881 628 48 13 71.00 % 0 0 643 73.00 % 13

ORANGE PARK SENIOR 
HIGH

2,468 2,344 1,649 104 16 70.00 % 0 0 1,698 72.00 % 16

DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

719 719 569 39 15 79.00 % 0 0 583 81.00 % 15

MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

650 650 565 34 17 87.00 % 0 0 578 89.00 % 17

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
ELEMENTARY

780 780 795 43 18 102.00 % 44 2 815 99.00 % 18

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH

1,537 1,383 1,046 66 16 76.00 % 300 12 1,083 64.00 % 14

S BRYAN JENNINGS 
ELEMENTARY

676 676 498 36 14 74.00 % 0 0 510 75.00 % 14

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL 2,037 1,935 1,529 86 18 79.00 % 0 0 1,502 78.00 % 17

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH 1,341 1,206 862 57 15 72.00 % 220 10 921 65.00 % 14

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY 876 876 813 47 17 93.00 % 0 0 833 95.00 % 18

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR 
HIGH

1,177 1,059 729 52 14 69.00 % 0 0 779 74.00 % 15

JACK L WILKINSON 
JUNIOR HIGH

843 758 735 37 20 97.00 % 0 0 785 104.00 % 21

MONTCLAIR 
ELEMENTARY

649 649 414 34 12 64.00 % 0 0 424 65.00 % 12

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR 
HIGH

2,503 2,377 1,682 108 16 71.00 % 0 0 1,697 71.00 % 16

RIDGEVIEW 
ELEMENTARY

565 565 584 34 17 103.00 % 0 0 598 106.00 % 18

CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY 474 474 436 25 17 92.00 % 0 0 446 94.00 % 18

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR 
HIGH

2,382 2,262 1,675 101 17 74.00 % 0 0 1,691 75.00 % 17

LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

970 970 974 53 18 100.00 % 396 18 852 62.00 % 12

ROBERT M PATERSON 
ELEMENTARY

1,105 1,105 1,110 60 19 100.00 % 0 0 681 62.00 % 11

J L WILKINSON 
ELEMENTARY

788 788 700 43 16 89.00 % 0 0 717 91.00 % 17

CLAY 
SUPERINTENDENT'S 
OFFICE

0 0 82 0 0 0.00 % 0 0 0 0.00 % 0

Page 27 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 211 of 231

DRAFT



FLEMING ISLAND 
ELEMENTARY

890 890 725 48 15 81.00 % 0 0 742 83.00 % 15

TYNES ELEMENTARY 1,162 1,162 1,021 66 15 88.00 % 0 0 1,081 93.00 % 16

MCRAE ELEMENTARY 550 550 525 31 17 95.00 % 0 0 537 98.00 % 17

THUNDERBOLT 
ELEMENTARY

1,110 1,110 900 60 15 81.00 % 0 0 830 75.00 % 14

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY 683 683 497 36 14 73.00 % 44 2 603 83.00 % 16

FLEMING ISLAND 
SENIOR HIGH

2,535 2,408 1,643 105 16 68.00 % 0 0 1,740 72.00 % 17

SWIMMING PEN CREEK 
ELEMENTARY

547 547 470 31 15 86.00 % 0 0 482 88.00 % 16

ARGYLE ELEMENTARY 825 825 793 44 18 96.00 % 0 0 812 98.00 % 18

LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR 
HIGH

1,504 1,353 1,029 68 15 76.00 % 286 13 1,099 67.00 % 14

COPPERGATE 
ELEMENTARY

725 725 603 38 16 83.00 % -66 -3 617 94.00 % 18

OAKLEAF SCHOOL 1,638 1,474 1,109 67 17 75.00 % 110 5 1,184 75.00 % 16

OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY

1,097 1,097 997 59 17 91.00 % 0 0 1,021 93.00 % 17

SHADOWLAWN 
ELEMENTARY

845 845 709 46 15 84.00 % 0 0 727 86.00 % 16

PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

1,004 1,004 1,109 53 21 110.00 % 0 0 960 96.00 % 18

OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL 2,589 2,459 2,022 107 19 82.00 % 0 0 2,212 90.00 % 21

DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

852 852 982 45 22 115.00 % 0 0 1,005 118.00 % 22

Spring Park Elementary 859 0 0 46 0 0.00 % 0 0 586 0.00 % 13

46,286 43,787 35,749 2,236 16 81.64 % 1,796 80 36,713 80.54 % 16

The COFTE Projected Total (36,713) for 2027 - 2028 must match the Official Forecasted COFTE Total 
(36,714 ) for 2027 - 2028 before this section can be completed. In the event that the COFTE Projected 
Total does not match the Official forecasted COFTE, then the Balanced Projected COFTE Table 
should be used to balance COFTE.

Projected COFTE for 2027 - 2028

Elementary (PK-3) 10,757

Middle (4-8) 14,555

High (9-12) 11,401

36,714

Grade Level Type Balanced Projected 
COFTE for 2027 - 2028

Elementary (PK-3) 0

Middle (4-8) 0

High (9-12) 0

36,713

Relocatable Replacement

Number of relocatable classrooms clearly identified and scheduled for replacement in the school board adopted financially feasible 5-year district work program.

Page 28 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 212 of 231

DRAFT



Location 2023 - 2024 2024 - 2025 2025 - 2026 2026 - 2027 2027 - 2028 Year 5 Total

GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH 0 0 0 11 0 11

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH 0 0 0 20 0 20

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0 22 22

LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY 6 0 0 0 0 6

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY 10 0 0 0 0 10

LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH 19 0 0 0 0 19

COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY 0 0 3 0 0 3

OAKLEAF SCHOOL 27 0 0 0 0 27

Total Relocatable Replacements: 62 0 3 31 22 118

Location-Type # Relocatable 
units or 

permanent 
classrooms

Owner Year Started or 
Scheduled

Student 
Stations

Students 
Enrolled

Years in 
Contract

Total Charter 
Students 

projected for 
2027 - 2028

1417 Red Apple Road, 
Middleburg, FL 32068

59 PRIVATE 2015 1,145 698 8 850

114 Canova Rd Fleming Island, 
FL 32003

43 PRIVATE 2017 1,000 860 6 1,000

1324 Kingsley Ave Orange Park, 
FL  32073

21 PRIVATE 2023 394 294 1 394

123 2,539 1,852 2,244

Charter Schools Tracking

School School Type # of Elementary 
K-3 Classrooms

# of Middle 4-8 
Classrooms

# of High 9-12 
Classrooms

# of ESE 
Classrooms

# of Combo 
Classrooms

Total 
Classrooms

Total Educational Classrooms: 0 0 0 0 0 0

School School Type # of Elementary 
K-3 Classrooms

# of Middle 4-8 
Classrooms

# of High 9-12 
Classrooms

# of ESE 
Classrooms

# of Combo 
Classrooms

Total 
Classrooms

LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY Co-Teaching 1 0 0 0 0 1

PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY Co-Teaching 4 1 0 0 0 5

GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY Co-Teaching 1 0 0 0 0 1

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY Co-Teaching 4 0 0 0 0 4

SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY Co-Teaching 3 0 0 0 0 3

Special Purpose Classrooms Tracking

Information regarding the use of charter schools.

The number of classrooms that will be used for certain special purposes in the current year, by facility and type of classroom, that the district will, 1), not use for 
educational purposes, and 2), the co-teaching classrooms that are not open plan classrooms and will be used for educational purposes.

Page 29 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 213 of 231

DRAFT



KEYSTONE HEIGHTS 
ELEMENTARY

Co-Teaching 2 0 0 0 0 2

Total Co-Teaching Classrooms: 15 1 0 0 0 16

Necessary offsite infrastructure requirements resulting from expansions or new schools. This section should include infrastructure information 
related to capacity project schedules and other project schedules (Section 4). 

No offsite infrastructure is necessary.

Proposed location of planned facilities, whether those locations are consistent with the comprehensive plans of all affected local governments, and 
recommendations for infrastructure and other improvements to land adjacent to existing facilities. Provisions of 1013.33(12), (13) and (14) and 1013.36
 must be addressed for new facilities planned within the 1st three years of the plan (Section 5). 

All new planned facilities are additions to current facilities.

Consistent with Comp Plan? Yes

Infrastructure Tracking

List the net new classrooms added in the  2022 - 2023 fiscal year. List the net new classrooms to be added in the 2023 - 2024 fiscal 
year.

"Classrooms" is defined as capacity carrying classrooms that are added to increase 
capacity to enable the district to meet the Class Size Amendment. 

Totals for fiscal year 2023 - 2024 should match totals in Section 15A.

Location 2022 - 2023 # 
Permanent

2022 - 2023 # 
Modular

2022 - 2023 # 
Relocatable

2022 - 2023 
Total

2023 - 2024 # 
Permanent

2023 - 2024 # 
Modular

2023 - 2024 # 
Relocatable

2023 - 2024 
Total

Elementary (PK-3) 6 0 0 6 2 0 0 2

Middle (4-8) 0 0 0 0 64 0 0 64

High (9-12) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6 0 0 6 66 0 0 66

Net New Classrooms

Site 2023 - 2024 2024 - 2025 2025 - 2026 2026 - 2027 2027 - 2028 5 Year Average

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH 951 951 951 951 951 951

RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY 264 264 264 264 264 264

CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY 62 62 62 62 62 62

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH 1,148 1,148 1,148 1,148 1,148 1,148

LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY 582 302 302 302 302 358

ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY 692 492 332 332 322 434

Relocatable Student Stations

Number of students that will be educated in relocatable units, by school, in the current year, and the projected number of students for each of the years in the 
workplan.

The number of classrooms, by grade level and type of construction, that were added during the last fiscal year.

Page 30 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 214 of 231

DRAFT



J L WILKINSON ELEMENTARY 478 478 478 478 478 478

PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY 117 117 117 117 117 117

OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL 910 910 910 910 910 910

GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH 147 147 147 0 0 88

CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY 215 215 215 215 215 215

R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER 483 483 483 483 483 483

ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY 254 254 254 254 254 254

GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY 208 208 208 208 208 208

W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY 463 263 263 263 263 303

ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH 542 542 542 542 542 542

CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE 0 0 0 0 0 0

FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY 574 414 414 414 414 446

TYNES ELEMENTARY 495 495 495 495 495 495

MCRAE ELEMENTARY 316 316 316 316 316 316

THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY 427 427 427 427 427 427

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY 55 55 55 0 0 33

FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH 1,270 1,270 1,270 1,270 1,270 1,270

ARGYLE ELEMENTARY 429 429 429 429 429 429

LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH 462 76 76 76 76 153

OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY 216 216 216 216 216 216

SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0 0 0

COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY 66 66 0 0 0 26

OAKLEAF SCHOOL 704 704 110 110 110 348

SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY 117 117 117 117 117 117

DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY 318 318 318 318 318 318

MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY 132 132 132 132 132 132

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY 268 224 64 64 64 137

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH 713 713 713 713 213 613

S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY 279 279 279 279 279 279

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL 252 262 262 262 262 260

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH 472 472 472 472 252 428

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY 498 498 498 498 498 498

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH 288 288 288 288 288 288

JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH 157 157 157 157 157 157

MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY 397 397 397 397 397 397

DISCOVERY OAKS ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 31 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 215 of 231

DRAFT



Spring Park Elementary 0 0 0 0 0 0

Totals for CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Total students in relocatables by year. 16,421 15,161 14,181 13,979 13,249 14,598

Total number of COFTE students projected by year. 36,271 36,333 36,394 36,486 36,714 36,440

Percent in relocatables by year. 45 % 42 % 39 % 38 % 36 % 40 %

Location # of Leased 
Classrooms 2023 - 

2024

FISH Student 
Stations

Owner # of Leased 
Classrooms 2027 - 

2028

FISH Student 
Stations

MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

MIDDLEBURG SENIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

RIDGEVIEW ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

RIDGEVIEW SENIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

ROBERT M PATERSON ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

J L WILKINSON ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

CLAY SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE 0 0 0 0

FLEMING ISLAND ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

TYNES ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

MCRAE ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

THUNDERBOLT ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

FLEMING ISLAND SENIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

ARGYLE ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

OAKLEAF SCHOOL 0 0 0 0

OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL 0 0 0 0

Leased Facilities Tracking

Exising leased facilities and plans for the acquisition of leased facilities, including the number of classrooms and student stations, as reported in the educational 
plant survey, that are planned in that location at the end of the five year workplan.

Page 32 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 216 of 231

DRAFT



GREEN COVE SPRINGS JUNIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

CHARLES E BENNETT ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

R C BANNERMAN LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER 0 0 0 0

ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

GROVE PARK ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

W E CHERRY ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

ORANGE PARK SENIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

KEYSTONE HEIGHTS JUNIOR/SENIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

CLAY HIGH SCHOOL 0 0 0 0

LAKESIDE JUNIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

JACK L WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH 0 0 0 0

DISCOVERY OAKS ELEMENTARY 0 0 0 0

Spring Park Elementary 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

Nothing reported for this section.

Failed Standard Relocatable Tracking

Relocatable units currently reported by school, from FISH, and the number of relocatable units identified as ‘Failed Standards’.

Page 33 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 217 of 231

DRAFT



Class Size Reduction Planning

Plans approved by the school board that reduce the need for permanent student stations such as acceptable school capacity levels, redistricting, 
busing, year-round schools, charter schools, magnet schools, public-private partnerships, multitrack scheduling, grade level organization, block 
scheduling, or other alternatives.

Clay County will be experiencing exponential growth over the next 15 years. Aggressive plans are already on file for residential and commercial developments.  
The completion of the First Coast Expressway will connect I-10 and I-95. Surrounding the expressway's interchanges and path through the county are seven 
residential communities and four commerce centers with more to follow. These planned projects will generate over 26,000 homes and potentially add more than 
9,600 K-12 students to the District population. There will be a need for increased permanent student stations.  However, the district is always considering options 
to better utilize existing and future facilities not limited to; redistricting, reassignment, and expanded capacity utilization (i.e. year-round school, split scheduling, 
and block scheduling)

Planning

School Closure Planning

Plans for the closure of any school, including plans for disposition of the facility or usage of facility space, and anticipated revenues. 

No plans are expected to close any Clay County Schools.
No plans for disposal of real property.

Nothing reported for this section.

Ten-Year Maintenance

Nothing reported for this section.

Ten-Year Capacity

Ten-Year Planned Utilization

Schedule of planned capital outlay projects identifying the standard grade groupings, capacities, and planned utilization rates of future educational facilities of the 
district for both permanent and relocatable facilities.

Schedule of capital outlay projects projected to ensure the availability of satisfactory student stations for the projected student enrollment in K-12 programs for 
the future 5 years beyond the 5-year district facilities work program.

District projects and locations regarding the projected need for major renovation, repair, and maintenance projects within the district in years 6-10 beyond the 
projects plans detailed in the five years covered by the work plan.

Long Range Planning

Page 34 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 218 of 231

DRAFT



Grade Level Projections  FISH 
Student 
Stations

Actual 2022 - 
2023 FISH 

Capacity

Actual 
2022 - 
2023 

COFTE

Actual 2022 - 2023 
Utilization

Actual 2023 - 2024 / 2032 - 2033 new 
Student Capacity to be added/removed

Projected 2032 - 
2033 COFTE

Projected 2032 - 
2033 Utilization

Elementary - District 
Totals

21,269 21,269 18,939.20 89.05 % 0 21,602 101.57 %

Middle - District Totals 9,074 8,163 6,298.91 77.17 % 0 7,325 89.73 %

High - District Totals 14,514 13,785 10,198.73 73.99 % 0 14,235 103.26 %

Other - ESE, etc 1,572 570 346.61 60.88 % 0 0 0.00 %

46,429 43,787 35,783.45 81.72 % 0 43,162 98.57 %

Proposed Location of Planned New, Remodeled, or New Additions to Facilities in 06 thru 10 out years (Section 28).

Nothing reported for this section.

Plans for closure of any school, including plans for disposition of the facility or usage of facility space, and anticipated revenues in the 06 thru 10 out 
years (Section 29).

Nothing reported for this section.

Ten-Year Infrastructure Planning

Nothing reported for this section.

Twenty-Year Maintenance

Nothing reported for this section.

Schedule of capital outlay projects projected to ensure the availability of satisfactory student stations for the projected student enrollment in K-12 programs for 
the future 11-20 years beyond the 5-year district facilities work program.

Twenty-Year Capacity

District projects and locations regarding the projected need for major renovation, repair, and maintenance projects within the district in years 11-20 beyond the 
projects plans detailed in the five years covered by the work plan. 

Combination schools are included with the middle schools for student stations, capacity, COFTE and utilization 
purposes because these facilities all have a 90% utilization factor. Use this space to explain or define the grade 
groupings for combination schools. 

Combination schools include grades 7-12.

Page 35 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 219 of 231

DRAFT



Grade Level Projections  FISH 
Student 
Stations

Actual 2022 - 
2023 FISH 

Capacity

Actual 
2022 - 
2023 

COFTE

Actual 2022 - 2023 
Utilization

Actual 2023 - 2024 / 2042 - 2043 new 
Student Capacity to be added/removed

Projected 2042 - 
2043 COFTE

Projected 2042 - 
2043 Utilization

Elementary - District 
Totals

21,269 21,269 18,939.20 89.05 % 0 0 0.00 %

Middle - District Totals 9,074 8,163 6,298.91 77.17 % 0 0 0.00 %

High - District Totals 14,514 13,785 10,198.73 73.99 % 0 0 0.00 %

Other - ESE, etc 1,572 570 346.61 60.88 % 0 0 0.00 %

46,429 43,787 35,783.45 81.72 % 0 0 0.00 %

Proposed Location of Planned New, Remodeled, or New Additions to Facilities in 11 thru 20 out years (Section 28).

Nothing reported for this section.

Plans for closure of any school, including plans for disposition of the facility or usage of facility space, and anticipated revenues in the 11 thru 20 out 
years (Section 29).

Nothing reported for this section.

Twenty-Year Infrastructure Planning

Twenty-Year Planned Utilization

Schedule of planned capital outlay projects identifying the standard grade groupings, capacities, and planned utilization rates of future educational facilities of the 
district for both permanent and relocatable facilities.

Combination schools are included with the middle schools for student stations, capacity, COFTE and utilization 
purposes because these facilities all have a 90% utilization factor. Use this space to explain or define the grade 
groupings for combination schools. 

No comments to report.

Page 36 of 36 12/11/2023 1:16:51 PM

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 2023 - 2024 Work Plan

Page 220 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C17 - Prequalification of Contractors

Description
Section 1013.46 of Florida Statutes requires School Boards to pre-qualify contractors prior to their being able to bid on
construction projects for the district. The rules for pre-qualification are stipulated in the State Requirements for Educational
Facilities (SREF). The attached list identifies the contractors to be approved this month. As this is an annual requirement, the
attached list may contain both new contractors and contractors seeking to renew their pre-qualification status. Per Florida
Statutes, only those contractors currently pre-qualified at the time of bidding may bid on a School Board construction project.

Gap Analysis
Contractor Pre-Qualification is an annual requirement.

Previous Outcomes
CCDS complies with contractor pre-qualification as required by Florida Statutes and SREF (State Requirements for Educational
Facilities).

Expected Outcomes
CCDS will remain in compliance by certifying the contractors recommended for pre-qualification meet the requirements of
Section 1013.46 FS, the State Requirements for Educational Facilities (SREF) and School Board Policy.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve the attached Contractor Pre-qualification list.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None.

Review Comments

Attachments

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 1.4.24.pdf

Page 221 of 231

DRAFT



SBCC PRE-QUALIFIED CONTRACTORS 
 
 
The following contractors are being submitted to the School Board for Contractor Pre-Qualification approval 
having met all requirements of Chapter 1013.46 F. S., as determined by the Pre-Qualification Committee 
consisting of Michael Kemp, Clayton Anderson, Bertie Staefe, Chris Deely-Isais and Beth Clark.  The pre-
qualification certification is valid for one year from the end of the month in which Board approval is obtained. 

 
 

COMPANY TRADE CATEGORY BOND LIMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

Baker Design Build Professional Engineer, 
General and Underground 

Utility & Excavation 
Contractor 

$5,000,000.00 January 31, 2025 

DGM Construction, Inc. Building and Roofing 
Contractor 

$10,000,000.00 January 31, 2025 

Trane U.S., Inc. General, Mechanical and 
Class A A/C Contractor 

$100,000,000.00 January 31, 2025 

 

Page 222 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C18 - Change Order #2 for Lakeside Junior High School Restroom Renovations

Description
Change Orders are initiated by the Contractor, Architect/Engineer or Owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the
project as defined by the plans and specifications. Change Orders are reviewed by the Architect/Engineer and staff prior to
submission to the School Board for approval. This change order is for a deduction to the contract due to the application of
liquidated damages applied, as well as a denied payment of retention due to the contractors’ failure to perform and failure to
complete the project per plans and specifications.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction will proceed immediately translating to an on time completion.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Change Order #2.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
This change order will decrease the contract amount by $50,188.96.  These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational
Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

CO 2 LSJ Restroom Renovation.pdf

Page 223 of 231

DRAFT



Page 224 of 231

DRAFT



Page 225 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C19 - Change Order #4 for Middleburg High School Cafeteria Expansion

Description
Change Orders are initiated by the Contractor, Architect/Engineer or Owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the
project as defined by the plans and specifications. Change Orders are reviewed by the Architect/Engineer and staff prior to
submission to the School Board for approval. This change order is the result of changed site conditions and the need for
additional items to include labor and materials for additional painting in the cafeteria expansion area.  Labor and materials to
install additional life safety fire alarm strobe lights in the single seat restrooms in accordance with code.  Labor and materials to
install additional kitchen equipment in the serving line in accordance with health code.  Labor and materials to replace two
access doors adjacent to the cafeteria expansion.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction will proceed immediately translating to an on time completion.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources necessary
to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Change Order #4.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
This change order will increase the contract amount by $18,922.94.  Architect fees, contracted at 8.5%, will increase by
$1,608.45 as a result of this change order. These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

CO #4 MHS Cafeteria Expansion.pdf

Page 226 of 231

DRAFT



Page 227 of 231

DRAFT



Page 228 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C20 - Final Completion of Lakeside Junior High School Restroom Renovations

Description
Establish a Substantial and Final Completion date for audit purposes and as required by the State Requirements for Educational
Facilities (SREF) and Florida Statutes.  The project, as determined by the Project Manager and Project Architect/Engineer, has
reached Final Completion on October 27, 2023 in accordance with the project documents.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Final Completion.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Cert. of Final- LSJ - CC Borden 10-7-23.pdf

Page 229 of 231

DRAFT



Page 230 of 231

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

January 4, 2024 - Regular School Board Agenda

Title
C21 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, and II) Plans and Specifications for Lakeside Junior High School
Restroom/Locker Room Renovations

Description
Each phase or combination of phases is submitted to the School Board for review and approval.  The plans have received staff
review and are complete to Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, and III) stage.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Individual departments have the opportunity to express needs during plan review in order to design a project that will meet user’s
expectations. 

Expected Outcomes
Schematic, Preliminary and Final Plan review allows for participation from a variety of departments to ensure any program
changes are incorporated into the design. 

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I,  II,  and III) Plans and Specifications for the Lakeside Junior High School
Restroom/Locker Room Renovations.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director, Facility Planning and Construction (904) 336-6824,michael.kemp@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
As budgeted in the Educational Facilities Work Plan for $930,000.00.  The architect’s cost estimate is $837,000.00.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 231 of 231

DRAFT


